# UNIVERZITA KARLOVA

# FAKULTA HUMANITNÍCH STUDIÍ



# Hugo Klačanský

# The influence of diseases on human body odor and its effect on behavior of others

Bakalárska Práca

Vedúci práce: Mgr. Jitka Třebická Fialová, Ph.D.

Praha 2021

PREHLÁSENIE
Prehlasujem, že som bakalársku prácu vypracoval samostatne. Všetky použité
pramene a literatúra boli riadne citované. Zároveň súhlasím s eventuálnym zverejnením práce v tlačenej alebo elektronickej podobe. Práca nebola použitá k získaniu iného alebo
rovnakého titulu.
V Prahe dna 26.07.2021
Hugo Klačanský

# POĎAKOVANIE Na tomto mieste by som sa veľmi rád poďakoval svojej vedúcej práce Mgr. Jitke Třebickej Fialovej, Ph.D., bez ktorej pomoci by práca nemohla vzniknúť. Vážim si jej čas, rady, ochotu, spätnú väzbu, trpezlivosť, odporúčania, ale aj zmysel pre humor. Najmä vďaka nej sa mi podarilo prácu napísať aj v tomto náročnom období pandémie.

# **ABSTRAKT**

Napriek tomu, že čuch je jeden z najviac podceňovaných ľudských zmyslov, telesná vôňa je veľmi dôležitá a neoddeliteľná súčasť života každého človeka. Ovplyvňuje ju množstvo rôznych faktorov vrátane vplyvov prostredia, aj génov. Patrí tam aj zdravotný stav človeka a ukazuje sa, že niektoré genetické, infekčné, ale aj neurologické, či psychiatrické poruchy ovplyvňujú jej intenzitu a kvalitu. Majú však vplyv na správanie ostatných? Práca má za cieľ prostredníctvom literárnej rešerše preskúmať akým spôsobom rôzne choroby menia telesnú vôňu, akú hrajú rolu čuchové vodítka súvisiace s chorobami v behaviorálnom imunitnom systéme, priblíži ich vplyv na spoločnosť a medziľudské interakcie a zároveň uvedie využitie v medicínskej diagnostike.

**Kľúčové slová:** telesná vôňa, prchavé organické zlúčeniny, správanie, behaviorálny imunitný systém, diagnostika

# **ABSTRACT**

Even though olfaction is one of the most underrated from human senses, human body odor is a vital and inseparable part of every individual's life. It is influenced by a variety of genetic and environmental factors. One of those is health status, as it turns out that some genetic, infectious, neurological and psychiatric diseases and disorders impact quality and intensity of human body odors. Do they have any influence on the behavior of others? The aim of the bachelor thesis is to review relevant literature and examine in what way do diseases and disorders change body odor, what role do disease-related olfactory cues play in behavioral immune system, to see their effect on society and interindividual relations and at the same time introduce the potential of disease related odors in diagnostics.

**Key words:** body odor, volatile organic compounds, behavior, behavioral immune system, diagnostics

# **Table of Contents**

INTRODUCTION	8
METHODS	9
1.THE ORIGINS OF HUMAN BODY ODOR	10
1.1 SKIN GLANDS	11
1.2 SKIN MICROFLORA	12
1.3 Breath Odor	13
1.4 Urine Odor	14
2. FACTORS INFLUENCING HUMAN BODY ODOR	16
2.1 GENETIC BASES OF HUMAN BODY ODOR	16
2.1.1 Kin Recognition	16
2.1.2 Major Histocompatibility Complex	18
2.1.3 ABCC11 Gene	
2.2 Environmental Influences on Human Body Odor	19
2.2.1 Diet	
2.2.2 Reproductive Status	21
2.2.3 Emotional State	22
3. HEALTH STATUS	24
3.1 METABOLIC AND GENETIC DISORDERS	24
3.2 Infectious Diseases	27
3.3 CANCERS	29
3.4 TOXIN POISONING	29
3.5 PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS	30
3.6 PARKINSON'S DISEASE	
4. BEHAVIORAL IMMUNE SYSTEM	32
4.1 PERCEPTUAL MECHANISMS OF BEHAVIORAL IMMUNE SYSTEM	33
4.1.1 Visual Perception	33
4.1.2 Tactile Perception	
4.1.3 Auditory Perception	35
4.1.4 Olfactory Perception	35
4.1.5 Multimodal Perception	37
4.2 AFFECTIVE MECHANISMS OF BEHAVIORAL IMMUNE SYSTEM	38
4.3 COGNITIVE MECHANISMS OF BEHAVIORAL IMMUNE SYSTEM	39

4.4 BEHAVIORAL MECHANISMS OF BEHAVIORAL IMMUNE SYSTEM	
4.5 SOCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF BEHAVIORAL IMMUNE SYSTEM	
4.5.1 Attention to Anomalies	
4.5.2 Social Stigma and Prejudice	
4.5.3 Sexual Attitudes	
4.5.4 Social Gregariousness	
4.5.5 Personal Attitudes	
5. DIAGNOSTICS48	
5.1 DIAGNOSTICS BY ANIMALS	
5.2 DIAGNOSTICS BY HUMANS	
5.3 DIAGNOSTICS BY ANALYSIS OF VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS	
6. DISCUSSION55	
CONCLUSION	
BIBLIOGRAPHY64	

# Introduction

Apparently, 53% of young adults would rather give up their sense of smell rather than one of their technological devices (McCann Worldgroup, 2011). Perhaps not as shocking in a world where olfaction is rather underrated and often mocked as not as important compared to vision, or hearing (Majid et al., 2018). However, olfaction is essential in providing us with necessary details about others and the environment. It helps people to enjoy food, protect themselves from environmental hazards and has a role in social interactions.

People also emanate odors that are complex unique prints of every individual that convey important information about one's age, sex, reproductive status, diet, emotional state, and even health status. Some infectious, genetic, and even psychiatric diseases may have an impact on how one smells and could possibly alter consequent interactions and the behavior of others towards the individual.

Pathogens have always been a threat for living organisms including humans and served as selective pressure throughout evolution. Hence, it was beneficial to avoid them and save the body's energy required for their combat. It appears that olfactory cues could play a role in pathogen detection in the environment and help the individual not to get infected.

This theoretical thesis paper will critically review and evaluate current scientific research within the field of human body odors, illnesses/diseases, behavioral immune system and diagnostics. As stated above, health status has been linked to the quality of human body odor. Therefore, this thesis seeks to investigate if and how do illnesses/diseases alter human body odor. Consequently, it aims to research how do the disease-related human body odors influence the behavior of others through the lens of behavioral immune system. In addition, it aims to cover how can olfactory cues be helpful in the field of diagnostics and what is the potential in the analysis of them.

Furthermore, possible prospects and future directions within the topic of human body odors and behavior will be discussed, as well as the limitations of the current studies.

The main goal of the thesis is to answer the following research questions:

- .Do various illnesses/diseases influence human body odor?
- .Do human body odors related to illnesses/diseases affect human behavior? How?
- .Do human body odors play a role in behavioral immune system?
- .Can human body odors be used in diagnostics of various illnesses/diseases?

# Methods

To answer the main set of thesis questions, systematic literature search will be performed. The objective is to systematically search for keywords "body odor AND illnesses", "body odor AND sickness", "body odor AND diseases", "body odor AND avoidance" and its synonyms, predominantly focusing on the studies of humans, in the following scientific databases: Web of Science, ScienceDirect, PubMed, the Royal Society. Other topic-relevant studies are to be found by cross-referencing, or by a visual tool Connected Papers. In the selection process of research papers containing relevant information for the thesis - firstly the title, then the abstract and finally the text will be read and evaluated. As most research within the topic is conducted internationally, mainly English studies will be reviewed. Thereafter, the studies will be contrasted and used to answer the main questions of the thesis.

# 1. The Origins of Human Body Odor

It has been well established that all individuals constantly emanate odorous and non-odorous volatile organic compounds (VOCs) which might be perceived by others. Each person has a specific body odor signature, a unique body odor print that is analogous to a fingerprint distinguishing all individuals apart. It is a result of a combination of various odorous VOCs emitted from different parts of the body (Shirasu & Touhara, 2011). Even though, the categorization of human body odor sources often differs throughout literature, it usually includes skin, the oral cavity, the scalp and hair, palms, soles, anogenital region and axillae as key sources (Ellis, 1927). Nonetheless, urine, feces, vomit, vaginal secretions, or blood as well emit numerous VOCs that make up the original human body odor. Moreover, VOCs could be analyzed, especially regarding the smell of diseases. However, skin odor – particularly the odor emitted from the axillae – is characterized as most distinctive in adults and has been researched most.

Some of the reasons of the focus is the fact that adults' axillae are one the most odorous body regions due to high concentration of apocrine sweat glands, or the convenience of collecting samples. In addition, it is a closed protected place with high humidity which serves as a convenient habitat for various bacteria. More specifically, mainly lipophilic *Corynebacteria* dominant in the region is responsible for the production of malodorous VOCs that is perceived as "sweaty" (Taylor et al., 2003). Moreover, it is assumed that humans adopting bipedalism means that interpersonal communication transferred from anogenital region to axilla due to its convenient location (Han, 2015). Occasionally, the odors of palms, feet or back are collected, but the studies are scarce. In some studies which cover mother-infant chemical communication, the odors of breasts and areolas that are rich in sebaceous glands and Montgomery glands are used to study attachment, or the initiation of breast-feeding (Doucet et al., 2009; Vaglio, 2009).

Mostly, in research covering the odors of diseases and illnesses, axillary odor is used for the reasons stated above. However, as sicknesses often impact the odor of urine and breath, some studies work and analyze those sources. Hence, for the purposes of this work, the mechanisms of body odor formation in axillary area, breath and urine odor will be discussed further, as they are the most frequently used and analyzed odor sources in relation to diseases.

## 1.1 Skin Glands

Predominantly, skin is the main area contributing to the overall human body odor signature, as it is covered with eccrine, apocrine, and sebaceous glands that produce secretions which interact with skin bacteria, from which VOCs derive. The glands produce odorless secretions, the resulting body odor is created by the metabolic processes of skin bacteria (Shelley et al., 1953). All glands are differently scattered across the body – consequently each region has a specific VOC profile and a different odor (Gallagher et al., 2008; Lowe & Anderson, 2015).

Sebaceous glands are distributed all over the entire body, except for the soles and palms. Most sebaceous glands cover the skin of the head, forehead, cheeks, and chin. They are predominantly found near apocrine glands and associated with hair follicles and as the hair grows, the glands cover it with sebum. The functions of the sebaceous glands are affected by steroid hormones, mostly by androgens, estrogens, progesterone, glucocorticoids, or thyroid hormones (Thody & Shuster, 1989). They produce odorless sebum, an oily secretion consisting primarily of lipids that lubricate and protect the skin and hair, for example from UV radiation (Folk & Semken, 1991). Moreover, sebaceous glands help to regulate body temperature. The excreted sebum mixed with sweat slows down the rate of evaporation in warm conditions, whilst in cool conditions it helps with preventing heat loss (Baker, 2019).

Apocrine glands are located deep in the dermis of the skin and its ducts open to the hair follicles associated with sebaceous glands and distinct secretion. They are concentrated in multiple body areas, mostly those where hair grow, including areolae and genital regions, but can be present on the eyelids and in the skin of the external auditory canal as well. However, the highest concentration of apocrine glands is in the axillary region where they are most prominent in size and activity (Schaal & Porter, 1991). They produce lipids, steroids, and proteins with milky and viscous consistency. These secretions contain carboxylic acids and inorganic substances which are transformed into volatile odorous substances by bacterial enzymes (Natsch et al., 2006). Generally, apocrine glands become fully active in puberty, as their development is based on sex hormones; but in women their activity decreases in menopause, and they become nonfunctional. Even sex differences have been identified in their size and amount. In males

they tend to be larger, whilst females sometimes have a larger amount of them (Doty, 1981).

Eccrine glands represent sweat glands that cover the entire body independent of hair follicles but are most numerous on the palms of the hands, soles of the feet, forehead, in the axilla, on the chest, and between the hair on the scalp (Lowe & Anderson, 2015). In contrast to a more viscous apocrine sweat, eccrine sweat glands secrete clear, odorless aqueous solution consisting of water, small traces of salts, proteins, amino acids, urea, ammonia, and lactic acid (Schaal & Porter, 1991). They lie in the outer region of the dermis and are smaller than apocrine glands, for that reason they are also known as small sweat glands. While some are activated by thermal stimuli, others are activated by psychological stimuli such as emotional state including stress, anxiety, anger, and their production increases under the influence of sympathetic nervous system (Martin et al., 2011). Their key function is thermoregulatory (Lowe & Anderson, 2015).

In addition to apocrine and eccrine glands, apoeccrine glands were discovered that share properties of both types. Apoeccrine glands have an apocrine-like opening of its secretory tubule, but similarly to eccrine glands they have long thin ducts opening directly into the skin, not into a hair follicle. According to data, apoeccrine glands develop during puberty from eccrine and eccrine-like sweat glands in the axillae and anogenital region (van der Putte, 1991). Remarkably, they are present in adult humans' axillary region regardless of their sex, or ethnicity. They produce higher quantities of sweat which suggests their contribution to overall axillary moisture (Sato et al., 1987). Currently, further research is necessary to accumulate more knowledge about the glands, as they are often omitted in general discourse.

### 1.2 Skin Microflora

As mentioned above, fresh substances produced by sebaceous, apocrine, and eccrine glands lack odorous properties. Those are the result of metabolic action by a range of microbiota residing in and on the epidermis. The skin flora of healthy adults contains bacteria and yeasts. They metabolize the mixture of excretions of the glands and produce various VOCs (Gower & Ruparelia, 1993). Each body region composes of a specific ratio

of microorganisms which result in different properties of the emanated odors (Schaal & Porter, 1991). It has been shown that bacteria of the genera *Staphylococcus, Micrococcus, Corynebacterium, Propionibacterium, Firmicutes* and *Actinobacteria*, and the yeasts of the genus *Malassezia* are contained in the resident microflora (Costello et al., 2009; Leyden et al., 1981). Micro-floral composition is quite individual and unique. However, some general within sex commonalities could be observed. The body odor of males is often rated as musky, while female odor as sweet. Males tend to have a more intensive and stronger odor compared to females, as they usually have more coryneform-dominated flora. On the other hand, females usually have higher concentrations of coccaldominated flora (Jackman & Noble, 2006). Importantly, various microflora residents are associated with different types of quality and rating of the odors. Axillary malodor was associated with corynebacterial as the primary agent in the study by Taylor et al. (2003). The same study found no association of malodor and the presence of *Staphylococci, Propionibacterium* or *Malassezia* fungi.

Although not all the main constituents that contribute to the resulting skin body odor have been fully discovered and understood, based on chemical assays it appears that fatty carboxylic acids with short and medium carbon chains C2-C10 are important in forming human body odor (Zeng et al., 1991). Another class contributing to the perception of axillary sweat odors are sulfanylalkanols characterized by a pungent odor. They are present in small qualities, but they contribute to the resulting odor, as they have a high volatility and a low threshold (Natsch et al., 2004). For long, it was thought that 16-androstene steroids (androstadienol, androstadienone, androstenone, and androstenol) often described having a musty urine like quality of smell (although different classes have different quality) could make up the resulting body odor. However, they are no longer considered as having the main role in contributing to the odor, as previously believed (Austin & Ellis, 2003).

### 1.3 Breath Odor

Despite the above-mentioned fact, human body odor can be derived from other regions as well, for example, from the oral cavity. Breath odor is important in human interactions offering cues of one's diet, or even some illnesses like the sweet-smelling breath of diabetes. The breath of healthy individuals contains a mixture of oxygen,

nitrogen CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, inert gases, and a small fraction of diverse trace quantities (Pandey & Kim, 2011). The volatiles originate in respiratory system, digestive system, and by processes of bacteria in the mouth. By now, more than thousand VOCs have been identified in human breath. However, it has been researched that VOCs in breath differ quantitatively and qualitatively in humans and the external environment has an impact on the breath sample too.

In other words, VOCs detected in the human breath could be endogenous (generated in the body), or exogenous (contaminated by environmental pollutants) (Ligor et al., 2008). Despite the fact, some VOCs have been interdependently recognized in all humans. The distinct VOCs detected in the human breath contain isoprene, ethane, ethanol, pentane, methanol or acetone, and other alcohols. In volume, their concentration ranges from parts per trillion to parts per million. However, their amounts might fluctuate based on diverse factors like use of tobacco products, drugs, specific diet, or exercise routine. For example, smoking increased exhaled ethane and pentane levels, exercising decreased isoprene concentrations (Miekisch et al., 2004). Breath odor can be used in clinical practice as well. Recognition of VOCs in human breath and their thorough analysis can be useful in the field of clinical diagnostics, as potentially disease-related VOCs could be distinguished from the others (Pandey & Kim, 2011).

### 1.4 Urine Odor

Human urine is one of the body odors sources that is not normally part of human social interactions, however, as it mirrors the internal metabolic and physiological state of the organism, often changes its odor quality with a disease/illness (Schaal & Porter, 1991). Furthermore, urine odor could be possibly used in diagnosing some diseases which is covered more in Chapter 5. It has been shown that multiple chemical classes such as acids, alcohols, ketones, aldehydes, amines, N-heterocycles, O-heterocycles, Sulphur compounds, steroids and hydrocarbons are found in VOCs of urine (Mills & Walker, 2001). Its formation is a result of gut microflora processing tyrosine – a non-essential amino acid (Bone et al., 1976). Moreover, certain VOCs could pose as biomarkers of certain diseases and as well work as a diagnostic tool. For example, some metabolic disorders related to diabetes, when present at high concentrations (Liebich, 1975).

However, many compounds are still not fully understood, and it is needed to research them more extensively.

As manifested above, human body odor profile forms by different odorants and in their diverse interactions. Most distinctive and studied body odor comes from bacteria breaking down particles excreted by exocrine skin glands, found mainly in the axillary area, anogenital region, and soles of the feet. Nonetheless, especially in the studies regarding diseases and illnesses, breath and urine odors are important to study as well, especially in their relation to VOCs analysis and potential diagnostic tools discussed further in Chapter 5 of the thesis. Both qualitative and quantitative differences in individual human body odors are influenced by an array of genetic and environmental factors which are presented in Chapter 2.

# 2. Factors Influencing Human Body Odor

Every human has a unique, distinctive body odor which seems to be relatively stable over time (Penn et al., 2007). Nonetheless, its individuality is a result of various factors including genetics, environment, and cosmetic products and their interaction. It has been researched that one's genetic makeup (Schaal & Porter, 1991), sex (Penn et al., 2007), age (Mitro et al., 2012), hormones and reproductive status (Havlíček et al., 2006), emotional state (Calvi et al., 2020), diet (Havlicek & Lenochova, 2006), smoking habits, health status (Shirasu & Touhara, 2011), fragrance use (Allen et al., 2019), or personality (Sorokowska et al., 2012) all shape the characteristics of human body odor.

Even though in reality it is quite problematic to strictly separate the effects of genes and the environment when discussing human body odor, as they both interact in various interdependent processes, throughout literature researchers often distinguish the factors to study the effects separately. In this work, it will be as well divided into the effects of genes and environment and cover the most significant and researched factors. Health factors will be separately discussed in Chapter 3, as they account for the main point of the thesis.

# 2.1 Genetic Bases of Human Body Odor

Some body odor specificity is attributed to genes and genetic makeup of an individual. Several studies concerning twins and kin recognition based on hedonic evaluation, but even chemical analysis of body odor precursors, or related to specific genes of MHC and ABCC11 support the notion that to an extent, body odor is determined by genetic factors.

# 2.1.1 Kin Recognition

One of the main indications comes from studies regarding the body odor of twins. Repeatedly, human conspecifics perceived the odors of identical twins as more similar compared to the odors of other participants. Moreover, correct matches occurred at rates better than chance and were similar to matches of the duplicate odors coming from the

same individual. As these twins were non-cohabiting, the effects of shared environment were minimized and thus suggesting important influence of genetics. Dizygotic twins not sharing their genes entirely did not show the same pattern of body odor quality (Roberts et al., 2005). In addition, when sweat samples of monozygotic twins were chemically analyzed, it turned out that their patterns of acid precursors of body odors were noticeably more similar and stable between days and samples from both axillae in comparison to duplicate samples of participants repeatedly sampled in different days (Kuhn & Natsch, 2009).

Apparently, twins display significant resemblance of their body odors, but close relatives seem to have a similar odor as well. In a study by Porter et al. (1985) concerning mothers and their underaged children, unrelated individuals could correctly match odors of mothers and their children at rates higher than chance. However, to control for other possible environmental effects, another experiment was conducted. In the first experiment the argument could be that the correct matching of samples was due to the shared environment. But when garments of cohabitating husbands and wives and hence partners sharing the same environment and not the same genes were tested, no high levels of accuracy of matching the odors emerged. It shows that external influence alone is not sufficient to contribute to body odor similarity.

Also, the ability of within kin recognition of body odors shows a potential role of genes in odor specificity. Mothers who were in contact with their infant even for a short time in an interval from 10 minutes up to 1 hour were able to correctly identify their baby's odor in high percentages (Kaitz et al., 1987). Another test showed that also close kin relatives -fathers, aunts, grandmothers- recognized newly born children by their odor with little prior direct contact. At the same time, it must be added that learning the odors could play a potentially important role. For example, unrelated women towards an infant could in a relatively short time recognize body odor of infants they had spent some time prior to the testing at similar rates to those of the mothers (Kaitz & Eidelman, 1992).

When presented with odors, adult participants were able to recognize between the samples of their non-cohabiting full-siblings and strangers of the same age and sex. Both performed at rates higher than chance, but the study does admit the possibility of interplay of genetic and environmental factors (Porter et al., 1986; Porter & Moore, 1981). A more

recent study found that fathers could not recognize the odor of their pre-pubertal and pubertal children better than by chance (Ferdenzi et al., 2010).

It seems that kin body odors have a uniquely identifiable resemblance and suggests that it is at least partially a result of genetic determination.

# 2.1.2 Major Histocompatibility Complex

Some evidence shows the role of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) genes in body odor and the possibility to perceive its gene variability by olfactory cues. MHC, in humans termed human leukocyte antigen (HLA), plays a role in immune processes in vertebrates and displays high polymorphism. This diversity could hypothetically have an advantage in combatting pathogen pressure, promote immunocompetence, and pairing with a partner with different MHC profile may reduce risks of inbreeding (Penn & Potts, 1999). Since studies with animal subjects showed relation between mate choices and MHC dissimilarity based on olfactory cues (Yamazaki et al., 1976), it was expected to find analogous tendency in humans as well (Havlicek & Roberts, 2009). Primarily, the research in humans regarding HLA focus on possible effects of HLA related odors on its attractiveness and consequent mate choice. However, the studies show mixed results and no final concluding statements might be presented yet. According to a recent metanalysis, a consistent preference for MHC-heterozygous individuals exists in mate choice, but no systematic preference for MHC-dissimilarity occurred (Winternitz et al., 2017). Effect of MHC-similarity on odor preferences was not found either (Havlíček et al., 2020).

The results of effect of HLA on mate choice is relatively mixed, and even chemical analyses did not show an effect of HLA-related genes on human axillary odor (at least not on odorous carboxylic acids), further tests between HLA complex and the human body odor perception must be performed.

### 2.1.3 ABCC11 Gene

Another relation between a specific gene and body odor was linked to the gene ABCC11 when axillary sweat was analyzed. The single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the gene coding of transport protein ABCC11 was marked as crucial. Homozygous individuals in a SNP (538G>A) were characterized with less distinct axillary odor compared to those heterozygous, or with a wild type (GG) gene. The variation of gene ABCC11 is closely related to ethnicity, as the mutation of SNP 538G>A prevails in Asian population, and thus the formation of precursors that lead to typical axillary odor quality is minimal. The axillary odor of people with the variant could be described as faint and slightly acidic. Participants of European, African, or Pakistani descent without the change in the allele do show the characteristic axillary odor with its more intensive qualities (Martin et al., 2010).

Based on studies related to kin recognition, and HLA and ABCC11 related genes, an undisputed tendency exists that at least partially genes do influence the resulting body odor of an individual.

# 2.2 Environmental Influences on Human Body Odor

All the data above support the notion that human body odor signature is partly genetically mediated and influenced by genes. On the other hand, it must be added that other intrinsic and extrinsic factors play a key role as well and cannot be omitted. Current studies illustrate the effect of multiple environmental factors having an effect, but this chapter focuses on diet, reproductive state, and emotional state as these have been extensively researched and are considered to have significant effects. It must be noted that strictly speaking reproductive state, emotional state, or diet are not environmental per se.

### 2.2.1 Diet

Diet is considered as one of the primary environmental factors affecting human body odor. Foods such as garlic, mango, saffron, curry, fenugreek, red meat, beer, or asparagus have been shown to alternate breath odor, some demonstrate the effect on skin, or axillary odor. The role that diet plays in affecting human body odor firstly emerged in twin studies. Monozygotic twins could be distinguished from olfactory cues in cases they were on different diets, but not on the same diet (Wallace, 1977). Even trained dogs could discriminate between monozygotic twins on diverse diets, but not when they were on different diets (Hepper, 1988). Although, in a more recent study, dogs could distinguish the odors of monozygotic twins regardless of their environment or diet (Pinc et al., 2011). Still, these cases adequately exhibit the role of both genes and diet contributing to the final human body odor.

As expected, diet mostly affects breath odor due to salivary excretion of the compounds. It could be presented on the example of garlic which is constantly associated with unpleasant malodor (Amagase, 2006; Stevinson et al., 2000). Sulphur substances in garlic, or onions, more specifically, allyl methyl sulfide compounds were marked as responsible for a strong displeasing smell (Block, 1985). When breath was analyzed by an electronic nose, it was suggested that raw garlic has a strong odor and it intensifies and changes into unpleasant odor *in vivo* (Tamaki et al., 2008). In addition, the malodor lasts for a few hours, especially because breath odor is also derived from the processes originating in the digestive system as mentioned in the previous chapter (Suarez et al., 1999).

Garlic is not the only food studied in regard to breath odor. Ketogenic diet characterized by a reduction in carbohydrates and in an increase of protein and fat can include side effects like bad breath (Shilpa & Mohan, 2018). Sugary foods may as well result in a bad breath, as bacteria convert sugars to acid and change the oral environment (Aylıkcı & Colak, 2013).

In addition to the food people ingest, various drinks influence breath odor as well. For example, green tea seems to have a positive effect on breath odor by reducing aerobic mouth bacterial load and eliminating malodor (Moghbel et al., 2012; Zeng et al., 2010). On the other hand, alcohol results in an oral malodor. Especially daily intake is associated with bad breath and increases the risk of periodontitis (Suzuki et al., 2011).

The effect of diet on human odor was considered for axillary odor too. Perhaps counterintuitively, in a within-subject study, the consumption of raw garlic/garlic

capsules had a positive effect on male odor quality as axillary odor was hedonically characterized as more attractive, pleasant, and less intense (Fialová et al., 2016). In a within-subject study focused on the effect of red meat, female raters characterized male donor's odors who had not eaten red meat in two weeks as more pleasant compared to the time when they had eaten it. The results indicate the consumption of red meat does influence the body odor of men (Havlicek & Lenochova, 2006). To the contrary, meat intake was considered to positively impact axillary odor in a study of Zuniga et al. (2017). It must be added that the studies used different methodologies, as in the latter the dietary data were self-reported and in comparison, the quantity of eaten meat was greater in the former experimental study. Thus, the difference implies the importance of the quantity of the eaten food. The study has also shown the impact of eggs, oils, and fats on odor pleasantness and negative influence of carbohydrates and seafood on male body odor (Zuniga et al., 2017).

Recently, a complete lack of caloric intake of women was tested in relation to body odor. Authors did not find a significant change in rating of pleasantness and attractiveness of the samples comparing usual caloric intake and the 48-hour long fasting period. Though, after all restrictions ended, the odors of women in the restoring period were characterized as more pleasant and attractive. It could be explained by eating less and lighter alternatives comparatively to their baseline regime (Fialová et al., 2019).

Urinary odor might be influenced by certain dietary choices as well. The urine samples of men who had ingested asparagus were subjectively assessed as pungent. It seems likely that the asparagus-related malodor is a result of molecules related to Sulphur containing compounds (Waring et al., 1987).

Undoubtedly, dietary choices do account for human body odor quality, attractiveness and intensity to an extent and could even shape interpersonal interactions, especially in the case breath odor in closer face-to-face situations.

# 2.2.2 Reproductive Status

It turns out, the body odors of women change across their menstrual cycle.

Numerous studies have shown women's body odor to be rated by men as more attractive and pleasant in the late follicular phase compared to other phases of the cycle. In addition, the differences stayed detectable even after seven days of the t-shirts kept at room temperature (Singh & Bronstad, 2001). Another, within-subject, carefully controlled study replicated those findings. Not only were men able to distinguish between odors of high and low fertility phases, but they also demonstrated above chance preference for high fertility odor samples (Gildersleeve et al., 2012; Havlíček et al., 2006). Possibly, levels of women's reproductive hormones estradiol and progesterone could explain the differences in body odor, as they predicted its attractiveness. Duringthe late follicular phase, when body odors are rated as most pleasant, estradiol levels are high, progesterone levels low. Congruently, women's body odors were rated as more attractive the lower their progesterone levels and the higher their estradiol levels were (Lobmaier et al., 2018).

In addition, changes in body odor in pre-reproductive and post-reproductive status have been perceived. As described in the previous chapter, body odor becomes more distinctive in puberty when apocrine glands activate, and hormonal changes occur. When mothers hedonically rated odors of their children, they characterized pre-pubertal scents as pleasant, whilst post-pubertal as more intense (Schäfer et al., 2020). On the contrary, apocrine glands decrease in function with age which could explain why odors of old age subjects were rated as less intense. Although, the odors of older-aged females were marked as less pleasant than those of middle-aged (Mitro et al., 2012). Not many studies focus on body odors of women after menopause, in a research article concerning mainly mood swings, the odors of older women were characterized as most unpleasant, intense, masculine, and oldest in age, even compared to old men (Chen & Haviland-Jones, 1999).

### 2.2.3 Emotional State

The effect of emotions on human body odor has been studied as well. Mainly the emotions of fear, stress, and anxiety have been shown to be hedonically recognizable by perceivers (Chen & Haviland-Jones, 1999).

Due to its potential evolutionary relevance and survival benefit, negative emotions of fear and anxiety are often recognized more than positive emotions and have been more

researched. Although happiness is studied less frequently, it similarly reflects in human body odor. The emotions of fear and stress result in a more intensive body odor quality. Even though the subjects can often qualitatively distinguish between the smells of different emotions, they cannot correctly match an odor to the original emotion (Iversen et al., 2015). Possibly, it could have an effect only on subconscious levels.

The effect of emotions is not only expressed by hedonic evaluation, but it also reflects in the physical reactions and facial expressions. For example, female raters exposed to happy odors of male donors generated a happier facial expression compared to the odors of the controls (de Groot et al., 2015). In another experiment, female participants exposed to odor of male fear tended to change their facial expressions into a more fearful one (de Groot et al., 2012).

Furthermore, brain scan studies showed that individuals smelling the samples of donors who endured emotionally stressful event, showed brain activity in regions processing emotions demonstrating that odor of a fear works as a cue that is processed by the brain (Mujica-Parodi et al., 2009).

All examples seem to support the notion that emotion can impact human body odor. However, the results on human ability to correctly identify them based on odor and correctly match them at rate above chance are mixed. Potentially, they could be detected, at least on a subconscious level and have behavioral, or cognitive consequences.

This chapter introduced diet, reproductive state, and emotional state to illustrate how environmental factors may impact human body odors. For the purposes of this thesis, it is key to describe if and how diseases and illnesses may impact body odors, hence in the following chapter, health status' impact is discussed in more details.

### 3. Health Status

Throughout history, it has been well observed that some changes in health status are correlated with changes in human body odor. For example, in the 5<sup>th</sup> century BD the Greek physician Hippocrates associated certain diseases with specific odors of urine, breath, or sputum (Adams, 1994). In the 11<sup>th</sup> century, the Arab physician Avicenna diagnosed his patients by perceiving changes in the smell of urine. Even 19<sup>th</sup> century medics were taught to diagnose physical conditions by their smell (Porter, 1994). Over time, with advances in medicine, doctors renounced from using odors in diagnostics. However, in multiple cases, even more recently, odors have been solid indicators of illnesses and diseases and guided researchers to gain insight within the topic and helped them to correctly diagnose multiple patients (Centerwall & Centerwall, 2000; Hayden, 1980; Smith & Strang, 1958). It turns out that possibly with advances in technology and awareness of the topic, odors of diseases could again serve as quick, non-invasive, and perhaps cheap tools in disease diagnostics.

Indeed, contemporary research has shown that infections, metabolic disorders, tumors, toxin exposure, and even psychiatric disorders may influence human body odor by altering the normal VOCs ratio, or by producing new VOCs altogether. Several examples of some of the most prevalently described illnesses and diseases with their impact on human body odor are presented below.

### 3.1 Metabolic and Genetic Disorders

It was shown above genes are partially responsible of an individual's body odor. Unsurprisingly, a genetic change, malfunction, or disorder may have an impact on the resulting body odor. Genetic and metabolic disorders are characterized by either deficiency in enzymes, or transport system defects. As a result, specific metabolites accumulate mostly in blood and urine, but possibly also in the breath, or other body fluids. High concentrations of metabolites lead to the detection of the disease. In some cases, these metabolites produce VOCs which could lead to characteristic body odor. Most metabolic disorders are highly heritable and if left untreated, they could lead to irreparable damage, or be even lethal.

Phenylketonuria is an inherited autosomal recessive disease related to the deficiency of phenylalanine hydroxylase. Normally, this enzyme converts the amino acid phenylalanine into tyrosine. However, due to its deficiency, phenylalanine accumulates in blood and is metabolized into phenylpyruvic acid and phenylacetate, both harmful to the brain. Phenylacetate exuded in urine and sweat is linked to cause a musty, sweaty malodor resembling locker rooms (Burke et al., 1983). Nowadays, newborns are screened for phenylketonuria, but in the past, the first patients were diagnosed thanks to olfaction – as mothers of concerned children reported the urine to have a strange musty odor (Centerwall & Centerwall, 2000).

Isovaleric Acidemia is an inherited autosomal metabolic disorder caused by a deficiency of the isovaleryl-CoA dehydrogenase which is involved in processing amino acid leucine. When leucine and its derivatives cannot be metabolized, they accumulate in the blood and could be damaging for the central nervous system. Different levels of the leucine derivatives could result in a specific body odor characterized as "cheesy", acrid, or to smell like "sweaty feet" (Tanaka et al., 1966).

Maple syrup urine disease is a metabolic defect due to which individuals cannot break down branched-chain amino acids (valine, leucine, isoleucine) through oxodecarboxylation. It is caused by the deficiency of the enzyme 2-oxo acids dehydrogenase complex. As a result, branched-chain amino acids (proteins found especially meat, dairy products, and legumes) accumulate in blood, tissues, cerebrospinal fluid, and urine. If untreated with special dietary restrictions of branched-chain amino acids, or episodes of acute metabolic decompensation, it leads to mental retardation and cerebral degeneration (Liebich, 1975). It results in a recognizable unique smell similar to caramelized or burnt sugar, or maple syrup found in sweat, urine, or in earwax (Menkes, 1959).

Patients suffering from a rare autosomal metabolic disorder trimethylaminuria cannot oxidize dietary-derived malodorous trimethylamine (TMA) to trimethylamine Noxide by an enzyme in the liver (Zhang et al., 2003). TMA is the product of gut bacteria metabolizing food rich in choline like eggs, legumes, or organ meat. Consequently, TMA stays unmetabolized in the body and is excreted in sweat, breath, urine, saliva, and even

reproductive fluids. As TMA is a gas and characterized by a pungent rotten-fish malodor, the body's inability to correctly metabolize it results in an unpleasant fish-like human body odor (Arseculeratne et al., 2007; Chalmers et al., 2006).

Cystinuria is an autosomal recessive genetic disorder that affects reabsorption of the amino acid cystine. Under normal circumstances, it is excreted in urine, however, in some cases it cannot be dissolved and forms crystals. These accumulate in the kidneys, urethra, and bladder. The urine of some patients might have a characteristic rotten-egg odor, as cystine contains Sulfur (Bondy et al., 1980).

Tyrosinemia is a metabolic disease when individuals cannot break down the amino acid tyrosine. Three types of tyrosinemia exist, with type I being the most severe. Tyrosine uncontrollably accumulates in the body. The symptoms begin to show in the first few months of the infant's life and include failure to gain weight or grow. They may show yellowing of the skin, tendency to bleed and offput a recognizable cabbage-like odor (Bondy et al., 1980).

Diabetes Mellitus occurs when pancreas fails to produce proper quantities of insulin, a hormone responsible for transporting glucose (the main source of energy for our body) into the body's cells. The most prevalent types of diabetes are type I, type II, and gestational diabetes which could develop in some pregnant women. Sometimes the causes of diabetes are unknown, but it could be caused by viral infections, or life-style management (obesity, high stress levels, or alcohol intake). In diabetes type I, insulin producing pancreatic beta cells are destroyed. Hence, no insulin is produced. If left untreated, diabetes type I may lead to ketoacidosis which occurs when high levels of ketones are in the blood. Since no glucose enters the cells and they still need energy, the body starts burning fatty acids and produces acidic ketone bodies as by-products. Those are excreted in the patient's breath and urine which have a fruity, sweet, rotten apple-like odor. Its odorous qualities have been linked to one of the ketones produced – acetone (Manolls, 1983; Shirasu & Touhara, 2011).

### 3.2 Infectious Diseases

In many cases, infection causing pathogens might change personal body odor. Multiple VOCs are produced because of interactions between host organic media and microbial toxins. Those volatiles are usually released in breath, skin, sweat, vaginal fluid, urine, and feces. However, the effect of infections on human body odors are more complex compared to metabolic disorders, and hence more demanding to study and characterize. Some of the reasons might be that microbial species can metabolize in diverse way producing a wide range of VOCs, often certain bacteria produce similar VOCs to other bacteria, and infectious diseases might comprise of multiple infections that lead to a specific odor once, but not the next time (Havlicek et al., 2017). Nonetheless, several infections have been associated to distinctive body odors. Mostly, odor changes are recognized in bacterial infections, but viral infections could have an impact as well. Below, several infectious diseases are introduced to illustrate their impact on human body odor, whether it is breath, skin odor, or urine.

Tuberculosis is a disease caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* which mostly affects the lungs but could potentially damage other parts of the body. Patients suffering from tuberculosis were reported to have foul breath odor. Moreover, a specific VOC breath profile has been reported in infected individuals, potentially showing biomarkers of tuberculosis (Syhre & Chambers, 2008).

Diphtheria is another respiratory infection, caused by bacteria *Corynebacterium diphtheria* resulting in a sore throat. It has been linked to a sweetish, putrid breath odor (Hayden, 1980).

Scarlet fever is caused by bacteria *Streptococcus pyogenes* leading to sore throat, fever, and red-colored skin and tongue. Individuals may have a specific foul odor of their breath and skin (Honig et al., 2003).

Cholera is an intestinal infection by bacteria *Vibrio cholerae* which causes dehydration, vomiting and watery diarrhea. The stool of individuals with cholera is referred to have a rice-water consistency and sweetish odor. One analysis suggested pmeth-1-en-8-ol and dimethyl disulfide as VOCs potentially responsible for the smell.

Whilst dimethyl disulfide was characterized to have an unpleasant odor, p-menth-1-en8ol has a pleasant odor (Garner et al., 2009).

Variola virus causes smallpox, characterized by symptoms of fevers, headaches, vomiting, and puss-filled rashes all over the body. When infected and opened, the rashes emanate a pungent, sweetish oppressive smell (Tucker, 2002).

Typhoid fever is a serious infection of the intestinal tract primarily caused by a bacteria *Salmonella Typhi*. Its signs usually include headaches, high fever, stomach pain and other digestive problems. The skin odor of infected people is characterized as musty or having a freshly baked brown bread quality (Hayden, 1980).

Yellow fever is a disease spread through mosquito bites. The symptoms include fever, muscle aches, headache, backache, or vomiting. It has been reported that patients suffering from yellow fever smell like a "butcher's shop" (Hayden, 1980).

Bacterial vaginosis occurs with the overgrowth of certain bacteria in resident vaginal microflora. Usually, it is diagnosed when three out of the four following symptoms occur: when vaginal discharge occurs, vaginal fluid pH > 45, vaginal epithelial cells are covered with bacteria, fishy odor is released. Cheesy or fishy odor is often associated with bacterial vaginosis. It is due to bacterial reduction of trimethylamine oxide to trimethylamine in vaginal secretion (Wolrath et al., 2002). However, it must be noted that not all women with bacterial vaginosis report vaginal malodor (Sonnex, 1995).

Even malaria, a serious mosquito-borne infectious disease seems to emit a specific odor. Mainly it has been tested on mosquitoes who tend to show a greater preference for individuals infected with a parasite. The researchers work with manipulation theory – malaria parasites alter the phenotype or behavior of their host to increase transmission success and fitness. In case of malaria, they may want to become more attractive to mosquitoes by altering the smell. It could be a functional strategy, because for mosquitoes, olfactory cues play a significant role in host-seeking. In line with the theory, mosquitoes were more attracted to infected children. After antimalaria treatment, mosquitoes were less likely to be drawn towards the subjects (Busula et al., 2017; Lacroix et al., 2005; Robinson et al., 2018).

### 3.3 Cancers

Cancer involves abnormal cell growth which can affect any part of the body. More than 100 types of cancer exist. However, mostly, lung breast, colon, prostate, skin, and stomach cancer prevail and account for millions of yearly deaths (WHO, 2021). The fact that cancer might have a distinctive smell is mostly supported by studies performed with dogs, but also the analysis of breath, urine, or blood of patients shows the possibility of detecting specific VOCs related to cancer. When evaluating the breath of patients with lung cancer a trend of specific VOCs appeared and included alkanes (Phillips et al., 2003). Also, the breath of women suffering from breast cancer appeared to contain a set of VOCs that could identify them (Phillips et al., 2010). The specific VOCs differ among studies, but in case of *in vitro* experiments, the results seem to be promising. In lung cancer, four specific VOCs were identified (heneicosane, dodecane, 2-ethyldodecanol and decanal), with a suggestion they could be lung cancer-related biomarkers (Thriumani et al., 2018).

In addition, canines can be trained to detect cancerous odors with high rates of specificity (ability to correctly identify those without the disease) and sensitivity (ability to correctly identify those with the disease). A trained dog could correctly distinguish between ovarian carcinomas and healthy tissues suggesting a carcinoma-specific odor (Horvath et al., 2008). It is suggested even plasma samples of patients with ovarian cancer emit specific VOCs, as trained dogs could detect it (Horvath et al., 2010). Bladder cancer odor from urine samples was also detected as rates higher than chance suggesting characteristic VOCs (Willis et al., 2004). Moreover, it has not been yet fully understood whether dogs could directly detect odors related to cancer, or the accompanying inflammatory phenomena. Nevertheless, the studies support the premise that various types of cancers do have an odor, although no human subjects have been tested if they could distinguish between samples as well. Diagnosing cancer by dogs is further discussed in Chapter 5 on diagnostics.

# 3.4 Toxin Poisoning

According to several cases from emergency departments, intake of toxins can alternate body odor. Even though, many toxic substances are odorless, some do potentially indicate poisoning by their odor. Cyanide poisoning may lead to breath odor

smelling like bitter almonds. Arsenic, organophosphates (used as pesticides), selenium, or phosphorus could lead to garlic-like body odor. Ingestion of isopropyl alcohol, acetone, or amyl nitrate results in a fruity odor in one's breath (Behrman & Goertemoeller, 2009; Hayden, 1980).

# 3.5 Psychiatric Disorders

Among psychiatric disorders, schizophrenia has attracted most attention in regards of emitting a specific smell. Schizophrenia is a serious mental disorder in which affected individuals have cognitive defects and relate abnormally to reality. Disordered thinking and behavior, hallucinations and delusions are some of the prevalent symptoms of the disease. Firstly, based on anecdotal experience that psychiatric wards have a distinctive foul smell, it was thought that patient suffering from schizophrenia could emit a characteristic odor. In the 1960s, trained rats could identify the odor of sweat of certain schizophrenic patients. Thereafter, the smell of schizophrenia was attributed to trans-3methyl-2-hexenoic acid (TMHA) (Smith et al., 1969). Later study showed no specific relation between TMHA and schizophrenia, as it could be identified with subjects without schizophrenia as well (Gordon et al., 1973). It appears TMHA cannot be considered as a reliable marker of schizophrenia, but a tendency of higher concentration in schizophrenic patients does exist. Furthermore, higher levels of carbon disulfide (neurotoxin) and pentane were found in patients' breath analysis (Phillips et al., 1993). Also, VOCs pattern recognized in schizophrenics included 11 specific compounds (Phillips et al., 1995). Nevertheless, according to gas chromatography-mass spectrometry analysis, the odor shows a different composition, suggesting its different quality compared to nonschizophrenics (Di Natale et al., 2005). Further studies are needed to clarify the relation between characteristic odors, VOCs, and schizophrenia. Nonetheless, the possibility of mental disorders having an impact on human body odor cannot be disregarded altogether.

As it was demonstrated in the previous chapter, emotional state shows tendencies to alternate body odor. In that case, potentially, affective or mood disorders, especially anxiety or depression could alternate body odors too. More research within the field, especially focusing on psychiatric, mood and affective disorders would be beneficial.

### 3.6 Parkinson's Disease

This progressive nervous system disorder affects the brain, and typically manifests itself in tremor, slower movement, stiffness of the muscles and general impaired balance and coordination. Symptoms of depression, urinary problems, sleep disruptions may occur as well (Davie, 2008). Recently, another symptom has been added to the list, as reportedly Parkinson's disease is accompanied by an unpleasant yeast smelling odor. It was brought to attention by Joy Milne, a woman who turned out to have an unusual sense of smell. After media coverage, others have come forward to confirm Joy's findings, it has not been tested if they can detect the odor too. At first, she detected a greasy musty smell of her husband, but later at a support group for Parkinson's disease patients she realized that all had the same smell – some less, some more intensive. Her peculiar hyperosmic abilities were tested and she identified the smell to be most localized on the upper back, not the axillae (opposed to expectations and the fact that in research axillary odor is mostly used). More specifically, the odor was associated with areas of high sebum production (Morgan, 2016). In an experiment combining Milne's abilities and the technology of thermal desorption-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry chemicals hippuric acid, perillic aldehyde, eicosane, and octadecanal were detected as potential contributors to the musky smell of Parkinson's (Trivedi et al., 2019).

Above, it was demonstrated that health status does have an impact on human body odor. Not all processes responsible for body odor alteration in illnesses are fully understood and not all specific disease-related VOCs have been identified. Nonetheless, clearly infectious diseases, metabolic disorders, neurodegenerative disorders, tumors, poisoning and possibly psychiatric disorders in a way alter body odor and often result in a distinctive foul (must be mentioned that sweet, or bread-like smells occur as well) scent emanating from skin, breath, urine or anogenital region.

But do these specific odors of ill people influence their conspecifics?

# 4. Behavioral Immune System

Above, some illnesses and disorders were introduced and discussed in terms of modern contemporary scientific research. However, pathogens have always been a threat, especially for socially living organisms with high population density, with humans not being an exception. Throughout evolution, infectious diseases have likely caused more deaths in humans than any other harmful causes combined (Inhorn & Brown, 2013). Simultaneously, vertebrates - including humans - have developed a set of complex reactive mechanisms to protect the host from infections, known as the physiological immune system (PIS) (Janeway, 2001). Its role is to detect the presence of variety of pathogens, distinguish them from the organism's own healthy tissue and consequently mobilize a response to eliminate the infectious agent. Even though, the immunological response is very effective, it is also highly costly both energetically and nutritionally. It could limit the individual in the processes of growth, reproduction, or thermoregulation which are crucial for the organisms' proper functioning (Lochmiller & Deerenberg, 2000; Sheldon & Verhulst, 1996). In addition, physiological immune system is reactive and defends the organism only after the pathogens had struck (Schaller, 2011).

Thus, researchers have proposed an existence of behavioral immune system (BIS), which is a complementary set of psychological mechanisms beneficial for the organism that would inhibit direct contact with pathogens before even entering the body. More specifically, BIS has been defined as a set of complex perceptual, affective, cognitive, and behavioral mechanisms which is activated in a response to certain perceptual cues to avoid potential risks of pathogen exposure and hence save the organism's energy (Ackerman et al., 2018; Schaller, 2011).

Nevertheless, these two systems are not strictly divided, on the contrary, it is thought that they are interconnected and work in conjunction. In humans, it has been demonstrated that the feeling of disgust (the main emotion associated with BIS) elicited an increase of immune markers in their oral cavities (Stevenson et al., 2011). In addition, individuals presented with pictures portraying disease-connoting characteristics had higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 in their organism following in vitro LPS stimulation (Schaller et al., 2010).

Some types of defensive behavioral responses have been observed among different animal species. For example, wood ants brought solidified coniferous resin to their nests which protected them against harmful microorganisms (Chapuisat et al., 2007); or Gombe chimpanzees acted hostile towards conspecifics infected with polio (Goodall, 1986). Moreover, female mice showed aversion towards the odors of urine of males infected with parasites, and rather stayed in the vicinity of the odors of healthy male counterparts (Kavaliers & Colwell, 1995). However, its importance and implications have been also studied for human health, psychology, and culture.

As mentioned, BIS consists of a set of interconnected mechanisms that at first detect pathogen-connoting cues in the environment which then employ disease-relevant affective and cognitive structures in working memory and consequently facilitate a behavioral response – for example, avoidance of the pathogen.

# 4.1 Perceptual Mechanisms of Behavioral Immune System

For BIS to function it must involve certain detection principles that are sensitive to pathogen presence. Since most are directly unrecognizable at plain sight, various perceptual cues related to pathogen presence must be used. BIS employs visual, tactile, auditory, olfactory sensory modalities, as well as their interaction to detect stimuli in the environment that could potentially pose some risk. The stimuli could include threatening objects like feces, or vomit, or conspecifics presenting disease-related cues, or behaviors carrying high risks (promiscuity, poor hygiene).

# 4.1.1 Visual Perception

Visual perception of disease connoting cues in humans is regarded as most viable. Stimuli from the environment like feces and vomit, but even social cues like skin lesions, or morphological deformations are instantly and easily visually recognizable. When it comes to the human health status, visual cues including paleness of the skin and lips, redness of the eyes, swollen face or hanging eyelids influence health perception (Axelsson et al., 2018; Henderson et al., 2017). For example, individuals presented with a series of photographs showing a potential disease threat were assessed as more

disgusting than similar photographs without disease connotation (Curtis et al., 2004). In addition to static face pictures, even body motion of LPS-injected individuals in video clips showed a small, but persistent trend to be rated as less healthy contributing to the importance of visual cues when perceiving an illness (Sundelin et al., 2015).

Another study creating an instrument for testing visual disgust has clearly indicated that certain stimuli portraying scenes and events highly salient of pathogen presence (e.g., feces, rotting masses, insects in food/wounds, vomit) are rated as more disgusting compared to more neutral ones (e.g., pasta, feet, hands, toilet, sanitary products) that were visually similar but did not have a disgust trigger (Culpepper et al., 2018). Furthermore, as already previously briefly mentioned to illustrate the link between BIS and PIS, in participants exposed to pictures of people expressing disease-connoting characteristics their PIS activated and they produced higher levels of the proinflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 compared to the group exposed to pictures of guns (stressful psychological experience), or neutral stimuli (Schaller et al., 2010). Human vision clearly helps to identify potentially threating stimuli, even from greater distance and plays a role in BIS.

# 4.1.2 Tactile Perception

Touch perception solely works on direct contact with the stimuli and potentially presents a higher chance of exposure to risk, in contrast to the other modalities working at greater distances which could be safer for the individual. But the sense of touch enables people to detect various qualities of the given stimuli in detail, including moisture, consistency, or temperature. Since many pathogens thrive in moist, warm, and dark conditions, but they also play a role in breakdown of the tissues and hence those conditions are a result of their action. Therefore, tactile modality could provide information about potential pathogen presence.

When tested, participants indeed rated wet stimuli and biological-like consistency stimuli (dough) more negatively compared to dry stimuli and inanimate-like consistency stimuli (rope). It shows that moisture and biological-like consistency are rated as more disgusting possibly due to the presence of pathogens (Oum et al., 2011). Moreover, when tactile properties were analyzed more specifically, sticky, and wet textures strongly

correlated with disgust. The context of the tested stimuli was key, as participants who believed to touch objects possibly related to disease showed highest disgust rating compared to the other groups (Saluja & Stevenson, 2019). Hence tactile cues seem to have a part in pathogen detection and activate BIS.

# 4.1.3 Auditory Perception

In the current research, the sense of hearing is perhaps least covered in research in regard to perceptual cues related to diseases. Most likely the sounds made by other conspecifics like the sounds of sneezing, vomiting, or coughing could be important as easily distinguishable cues marking pathogen threat in the close environment from a distance. When tested, participants could not correctly identify the sounds of diseases compared to control sounds. The tendency of the participants was to mark the sounds they considered as more disgusting to be infectious in their origin, regardless of its true origin. People seem to react rather negatively to the sounds of diseases but cannot recognize their origin (Michalak et al., 2020).

# 4.1.4 Olfactory Perception

Olfactory modality is often related to detection of spoiled food or dubious environments. To illustrate, people tend to react negatively to odorous meats, or milk, and avoid places with feces, or decaying bodies. Furthermore, olfactory cues can often be detected from distance without getting into direct contact with the pathogen source (Schwambergová et al., 2020). As already described in Chapter 3, also some diseases have an impact on human body odor. From the point of BIS, odors of diseases emanating from humans might be significant cues for recognizing pathogens.

To study it, Olsson et al. (2014) injected individuals by lipopolysaccharide (LPS), an endotoxin causing an inflammatory response simulating a disease-like effect. When assessed, the axillary body odor of LPS-injected subjects was indeed perceived and rated as more intense and less pleasant compared to the healthy and placebo groups. The results of perceptual ratings were not replicated in Regenbogen et al. (2017) in which body odors of LPS-injected subjects were not assessed as more unpleasant and intense than the healthy ones. Possibly, it could be explained by using different methods, as the body

odors were presented from head-space saturated jars in Olsson et al. (2014) and by an olfactometer in the latter. The former uses glass jars containing odorants which are presented to the raters. The latter is an instrument that presents odor stimuli in a standardized computer-controlled manner with determined duration, concentration, or air flow (Al Aïn & Frasnelli, 2017). Usually, odors from olfactometer are perceived as less intense. Nonetheless, it was demonstrated that disease-related olfactory cues are processed by cortical networks in the brain and shows its possible effect at non-conscious levels (Regenbogen et al., 2017).

Previously, the effect of diseases on urine odor was discussed (e.g., maple syrup disease) and it seems to be a potential source for disease-related olfactory cues. Hence, the effect of LPS-induced inflammation on urine odor was tested. The results indicated acute inflammation had an effect on urine odor that was detectable by human and chemical assays. A tendency to perceptually view the inflammatory urine samples as more aversive compared to healthy samples appeared. In the chemical assays, differences in abundance of acetophenone and pyrrole were detected, but no causal links were induced. In summary, the continuing evidence of inflammatory processes impacting human body odor being perceptually distinguishable strengthened (Gordon et al., 2018). Although, olfactory cues related to the smell of urine might be important in activating BIS in certain marginal situations, mostly, in usual social interactions the odor of urine could be considered as negligible.

The LPS model can demonstrate humans' ability to detect cues of acute inflammation and bypass confounding variables including medication and lifestyle changes that are often associated with natural sickness model and could potentially influence body odor. However, some criticize its ecological validity and call for testing with naturally occurring illnesses. Hence, the effect of odor cues of naturally occurring respiratory infections like cold and the flu was researched. In that case, no effect in conscious perception and consequent ratings of the illness-related body odor was observed. Although, a tendency to perceptually detect infection-related odors and rate them as unpleasant and aversive emerged, no statistical significance difference was recorded. According to the authors, the difference in the resulting effect between the natural sickness model and the LPS experimental model could stem from the individual course of the illnesses. Although, both lead to inflammatory responses, in the study, only

mild symptoms were reported by the subjects suffering from the flu, or cold. Whilst the LPS-injected subjects in other studies had more severe symptoms, headaches, or higher degree of fever. Thereby, harsh symptoms, or advance stage of the illness could impact the strength of the disease-related olfactory cues (Sarolidou et al., 2020b).

Even though, the results are mixed, the notion that sick individuals emit chemical cues detectable by others and are thereafter rated as unpleasant and more intense has been apparent.

### 4.1.5 Multimodal Perception

Naturally, at most time perceptional cues are not presented separately in a real life environment. Therefore, some studies used a multimodal approach and tested both visual and olfactory disease-related cues at the same time. Facial pictures of LPS-injected subjects together with sick body odors had the tendency to be rated less desirably and it showed increased neural activation in face and odor perception networks demonstrating an effect of multisensory integration model of disease-related cues (Regenbogen et al., 2017). Similar results were found when participants were presented with the face and odor of sickness (again induced by LPS injection), the liking of them decreased compared to healthy controls (Sarolidou et al., 2020a).

As people often use more than one, or two senses at a time to perceive their environment, it is important to study integration of the senses in the process of detection of disease-related cues to activate BIS, and perhaps to study which sense plays a bigger role compared to the others.

When lay beliefs of people were tested which senses are accurate and effective in identifying pathogenic threats, sight was always prioritized. The studies showed that sight and sound were considered relevant and likely to be used in interpersonal communication (identification of the sick), while sight, smell and taste were prioritized in food identification. However, taste was less preferred to be used - it seems that people rather use less effective but safer sensory information (Ackerman et al., 2020).

### 4.2 Affective Mechanisms of Behavioral Immune System

Usually, with the detection of disease-related cues, disgust is elicited which is considered the central emotion related to BIS. Disgust has been defined as an experience of repulsion, possibly followed by nausea, and a strong feeling to avoid the eliciting stimulus. In addition, it could be accompanied with specific facial expressions including slightly narrowed brows, wrinkling of the nose, or a curled upper lip (Oaten et al., 2009). Autonomic responses like a reduced systolic blood pressure, heart rate changes and decreased skin conductance may also follow (Croy et al., 2013). Currently three main domains of disgust are used throughout literature - pathogen disgust (disease avoidance) and derived domains of sexual (negative affective reaction to certain sexual partners and practices) and moral (negative affective reaction to social norm violation) disgust (Oaten et al., 2009; Tybur et al., 2009). The main proposed function of disgust is disease avoidance. Hence, all the perceptual disease-related cues mentioned in chapter 4 should cause the emotion of disgust.

Those who were presented with visual stimuli of images related to potential pathogen presence involving food, animals, bodily products, injuries/infections, death, and poor hygiene rated the stimuli as more disgusting compared to neutral stimuli (Culpepper et al., 2018; Val Curtis et al., 2004; Haberkamp et al., 2017). Tactile cues having moist, sticky, and biological-like consistency were found to induce disgust in tested participants too (Oum et al., 2011; Saluja & Stevenson, 2019). Even auditory cues may induce the emotion of disgust. Subjects presented with disgust-inducing auditory stimuli showed a change in physiological markers. They tended to have enhanced systolic blood pressure and increased skin conductance compared to controls (Croy et al., 2013). However, neuronal responses to auditory disgust elicitors produced only small activation changes, possibly meaning its reduced importance in disgust perception (Phillips et al., 1998).

Most importantly for the thesis, olfactory cues could possibly have a potential to induce the emotion of disgust and one of its main function could be avoidance of hazardous stimuli including microbial threats in the environment (Stevenson, 2009). For example, the odor of vomit was uniquely associated with disgust (Glass et al., 2014). Or, when students were presented with methyl methacrylate (acrid, repulsive odor) and

propionic acid (odor resembling body odor sweat) they evoked disgust in their verbal response, but anger in the autonomic (unconscious) response (Alaoui-Ismaïli et al., 1997). In another approach, when participants were asked to list odors that evoke different kinds of emotions, almost all were able to name an odor that makes them disgusted falling into the class of death and waste (e.g. feces, vomit, organic waste) (Croy et al., 2011).

The capacity of odors to induce emotions, including disgust is frequent. However, no direct evidence showing the emotion of disgust as a reaction to human body odor and more specifically to body odor of diseases has been presented in the current research. The odors of some illnesses do impact human body odor and may serve as olfactory cues activating BIS, as they are perceptually recognizable and could induce disgust. As outlined in the previous chapter, the axillary odor and urine odor of subjects injected with LPS were rated as more intense, less healthy and unpleasant (Gordon et al., 2018; Olsson et al., 2014). In addition, the axillary odor of men suffering from acute stage of gonorrhea was perceptually judged as unpleasant by women raters (Moshkin et al., 2012). However, it must be added the results are mixed, and no significance in disgust ratings of the odors of respiratory infections was found (Sarolidou et al., 2020b).

On one hand, in some cases the stimuli were only rated as more intensive, negative, unpleasant, without any evidence of eliciting the emotion of disgust. Therefore, the need to be cautious and not coming to hasty conclusions is crucial. On the other hand, it was illustrated by numerous studies that various pathogen-related cues induced disgust in tested participants. Nevertheless, without being redundant, the tendency to rate some disease-related olfactory cues as unfavorable is apparent.

# 4.3 Cognitive Mechanisms of Behavioral Immune system

Once the perceptual cues connoting pathogens in the environment are perceived, psychological response is activated. It includes the arousal of emotional experience – the formerly mentioned disgust, but also the activation of specific cognitive structures that consequently enable behavioral response. Disgust may motivate an impulsive avoidant response, but alone cannot cause planned actions like an effort to quarantine or social exclusion which reduce long-term threats of pathogen effected individuals. The

deliberative cognitive processes of BIS allow people to realize potential threats after detecting pathogen-related cues and facilitate consequent behaviors. These processes even let individuals to empathize with those who are suffering from an illness, or are disabled, instead of employing avoidance behavior (Pryor et al., 2004).

For example, mothers tended to have lower disgust sensitivity compared to non-mothers when presented with pathogen disgust and visual disgust domains and do not seem to employ avoidance behavior in taking care of their offspring (Prokop & Fancovicova, 2016). In healthcare professions disgust sensitivity plays a significant role as well. According to data from a study based in New Zealand, students who enrolled in courses targeted at medical careers (higher exposure to elicitors of disgust) showed lower levels of disgust sensitivity compared to students in pharmacy, but data comparisons to other non-medical professions were absent (Consedine et al., 2013). However, in the field, professionals often experience disgust which leads to decrease in their empathy and emotional exhaustion (Goerdeler et al., 2015; Ostaszkiewicz et al., 2016). Nonetheless, the way to overcome it is to employ cognitive structures, stay empathetic and familiar with the patients, or perceive them as nice, because the power of reframing is often strong (Dongen, 2001; Jackson & Griffiths, 2014).

Moreover, the cognitive mechanisms in BIS are differently applied in children who often do not understand what events, or stimuli might pose pathogen risk. For example, children before the age of 2 will put almost anything into their mouths. Infants and young children are often tolerant to odors of disgust and decay which are disgusting for adults (Engen & Corbit, 1970). Only after the age of 8 are children able to reason why certain objects are disgusting. It seems that disgust is not present in infants and young children and develops over time (Rozin & Fallon, 1987). Current studies are done mostly with adult participants, and it is unknown how children would perceive olfactory cues related to disease and illnesses. Based on the above-mentioned results, their reaction to odor stimuli could be different and could show whether experience with different smells and learning is necessary. Perhaps, children might smell the disease-related odors as less pungent and would not mark them as unpleasant.

### 4.4 Behavioral Mechanisms of Behavioral Immune System

The behavioral component of BIS can either be reactive or proactive. Reactive mechanisms follow the presence of pathogen connoting information posing an immediate risk. They mostly take the form of avoidance behavior which should consequently reduce the risk of infection. However, in current research, behavioral responses themselves are not directly studied in any modalities concerned, at least not in humans. When it comes to olfactory modality, avoidance behavior was well-observed in studies of rodents whose body odors alter due to numerous infections, similarly to humans. Based on olfactory cues, rodents can distinguish infected individuals and display aversive and avoidant behaviors towards them (Kavaliers et al., 2005). For example, LPS injected adult male rats released aversive odor which caused increased avoidance of conspecifics (Arakawa et al., 2009). When female mice were infected with larvae of *Trichinella spiralis*, male mice had lower tendencies to mount and copulate with infected females (Edwards & Barnard, 1987). On the other hand, male rats infected with tapeworm *Hymenolepis diminuta* were avoided by female rats (Willis & Poulin, 2000).

Avoidance behavior in humans when exposed to the odors of diseases has not been researched yet. One might only speculate that based on decreased preferences and unpleasant ratings of illness-related smell, it would similarly as in rodents lead to avoidance behavior. Though, possible impact of malodorous cues on human behavior was researched in relation towards condom use attitude. Students exposed to fecal smelling chemical expressed greater intensions to use condoms compared to controls which suggests that olfactory pathogen threat could induce behavioral changes (Tybur et al., 2011). It should be added, the results were only based on self-reporting and real-life behavior of participants was not recorded.

On the other hand, proactive responses are employed to manage the long-term risks of contracting a disease or an illness. They include habits like hygienic behavior to proactively reduce risks from persistent threats of bacteria and viruses that turned out to be motivated by the desire to avoid and remove disgusting things (Curtis & Biran, 2001).

## 4.5 Social Implications of Behavioral Immune system

BIS operates on two underlaying principles which seem to have an impact on social interactions and interpersonal relations including perception of others, social gregariousness, conformity, sexual conduct, or xenophobia among individuals, and populations. Several examples of the implications are discussed below.

One of the two principles is the 'Smoke Detector Principle'. As formerly mentioned, BIS does not respond to the "actual" presence of pathogens, but only to perceptual cues related to pathogens indicated by the senses. These perceptual cues might and might not predict the real presence of parasites and for that reason it works with error management theory. According to this theory, BIS should be set in favor of low-energy demanding errors. Often, the analogy of smoke detector is used (hence the name). The detector is sensitively set to evaluate any minor indication of potential danger as alarming and avoid later costs associated with actual fire. As a result, many false positive errors occur – individuals are marked as sick even when healthy. However, high sensitivity results in a low number of false negative errors. Incorrectly marking someone as healthy when sick increases the potential of getting infected. That is energetically costly as the individual uses tools of physiological immune system to combat pathogens, it increases the chance of becoming disabled or could lead to death. Hence, similarly to the smoke detector, BIS has evolved to be highly sensitive towards any signs of sickness, regardless of its severity. As a result, the processes involved in BIS might get activated even when the perceptual cues pose no actual risks (Nesse, 2005).

In addition, BIS also works on functional flexibility principle that is defined by stronger aversive reactions towards cues pertaining risk in situation when the individual is more threatened by an infection, or simply has a subjective feeling of an infection threat. However, with mild reactions in contexts the perceiver feels relatively invulnerable to pathogen infection (Miller & Maner, 2012). To illustrate, pregnant women, whose PIS is naturally suppressed tend to show negative attitudes towards outgroup members, possibly explained by their heightened vulnerability to pathogens (Navarrete et al., 2007).

Although, the principles might be beneficial for the individual/population, as the risk of getting infected decreases, the over-generalization does influence social interactions. Consequently, even entities with characteristics that share certain qualities with infectious stimuli tend to be judged rather negatively and possibly avoided.

#### 4.5.1 Attention to Anomalies

To illustrate, people presented with chocolate fudge shaped into dog feces, or rubber vomit imitations responded with disgust and behavioral avoidance (Rozin et al., 1986). Similarly, it leads to negative attitudes towards humans who physically appear to be infectious, or to "deviate from the norm". Additionally, even people who simply show signs of exhaustion and present similar characteristics as the ill could be rated negatively. In a study based on visual cues, participants avoided handling props which had been previously touched by confederate with a birthmark on their face, despite the fact no risk of contagion could occur. The results were similar when compared to props touched by influenza infected confederate where the risk of contagion was actually present, showing an implicit bias of disease association with facial disfigurement (Ryan et al., 2012).

It could only be speculated whether non-threatening, but perhaps anomalous olfactory cues would induce similar behavioral reaction, as it has not been tested. Various body odors of non-contagious metabolic disorders were introduced in Chapter 3. For example, the sweat odor of patients suffering from phenylketonuria was reported to have a strange musty odor and the odor of patients with isovaleric acidemia was described as acrid, "cheesy" and "sweaty". Both odors were described rather negatively which could analogously to non-contagious visual cues induce avoidance behavior, despite no risks of infection.

## 4.5.2 Social Stigma and Prejudice

Additionally, even people without any morphological disfigurements, disabilities, or anomalies, but subjectively perceived as foreign are often stereotypically associated to pose as a threat (Markel & Stern, 2002). The reasons include a possible different physical appearance, perceived association of foreign people with foreign parasites, and different behavioral norms regarding to hygiene, or food preparation. In those cases, the perceived

risk of getting infected strengthens and ethnocentric and xenophobic responses may occur. Even though it could be culturally specific, as in the region of Central Europe foreigners would not probably be treated as threats of infections - at least not verbally. Still, in general the different norms of hygiene, food preparation difference might be viewed as risky and increasing the chance of transmitting an infection.

Moreover, foreigners are often described to emit an unpleasant smell. Partly, it could stem from unfounded stereotypes, but it could be the result of different genetic make-up as well. It was illustrated in Chapter 2 that ethnicity (because of its genetic component) is one of the factors that helps to shape the overall body odor profile. To demonstrate, people of Asian origin were described to possess virtually no body odors due to the specific ABCC11 gene mutation and would rate the odor of other ethnicities as more prominent. Whilst individuals of African origin produce more intensive body odor, partly due to their higher amount and concentration of apocrine sweat glands (Martin et al., 2010; Prokop-Prigge et al., 2016). Similarly, diet influences human body odor too. Hence, the consumption of certain foods might account for some differences among populations. Traditionally, cultures of the East tend to have diets based on grains and vegetable with limited amount of meat products compared to consumers in the West (although it is increasing) (Nam et al., 2010). As mentioned, meat consumption could influence body odor and could result in certain differences. Nonetheless, the need to be cautious and not make controversial conclusions is necessary, as qualitatively all groups seem to produce the same volatile acid profiles (Prokop-Prigge et al., 2016). In general, cultural differences in ratings of certain odors appear, as a difference in ratings of odor pleasantness and edibility between Japanese and German participants occurred (Ayabe-Kanamura et al., 1998).

As already mentioned, in line with the functional flexibility principle, pregnant women from the United States in their first trimester showed attraction towards their ingroup and negativity towards outgroup members compared to later phases of pregnancy, possibly explained by their heightened vulnerability to pathogens (Navarrete et al., 2007). In another study, undergraduate students at University of British Columbia primed by visual cues of diseases, favored familiar immigrants compared to subjectively assessed foreign immigrants. In the same study it was shown that individuals' perceived vulnerability to disease (one's personal belief about susceptibility to infectious diseases)

impacts their attitudes towards others. Therefore, it was indicated that chronic and contextually evoked feelings of vulnerability towards diseases belong to the list of factors that add up to xenophobic tendencies (Faulkner et al., 2004).

#### 4.5.3 Sexual Attitudes

Close interpersonal contact that comes with sexual activities increases the risk of disease transmission. However, the activation of BIS might lead to cautiousness in sexual relations. One of the examples was described above, when the odor of human feces activated BIS and increased the self-reported tendencies to use a condom (Tybur et al., 2011). In addition, in a set of studies, women (especially women who felt greater threat of getting infected) who anticipated a long-term future characterized by increased threats of diverse illnesses, would desire a greater variety in their future sexual partners. Women could desire sexual variety to increase genetic variability in their offspring, hence increasing the chance of survival of more individuals, as at least one could have immune genes necessary to survive (Hill et al., 2015). Although, it could be argued that higher number of sexual partners could increase the risk of getting infected throughout their own lives, it could be beneficial for the long-term future.

### 4.5.4 Social Gregariousness

Even non-sexual relationships present a certain risk of infections. Socially gregarious individuals tend to meet a great number of people and are likely to be more receptive to disease transmission (Nettle, 2005). Thus, the activation of BIS is thought to inhibit social interactions. In an experimental design, participants who were presented with disease salient visual stimuli reported lower levels of extraversion, with stronger avoidant motor movements in response to others (Mortensen et al., 2010). The experiment did not include control conditions of other threatening stimuli which means that the effects on social interactions might not be unique to threats posed only by infectious diseases. Despite the fact, the activation of

BIS seems to cause people to limit their social contacts and their heightened tendency to specifically choose those they prefer to contact.

#### 4.5.5 Personal Attitudes

Those who subjectively felt more vulnerable to infectious diseases even had a stronger tendency to adhere to conformist statements and behaviors and the conditions of disease threat revealed higher conformist attitudes compared to the control group (Murray & Schaller, 2012).

In case that others violate social norms, people who chronically experience disgust more judge the "offenders" more harshly (Jones & Fitness, 2008). Participants exposed to a disgusting smell of a flatus spray tended to make more severe moral judgements on provided statements (Schnall et al., 2008).

Activation of BIS could even affect political affiliation, as people tend to be more conservative in disease salient situations, especially those who are more prone to disgust (Brenner & Inbar, 2015). Even political liberals exposed to a smell of disgusting odorant showed more negative attitudes towards homosexual men than to heterosexual men, compared to the control group where both groups were judged equally positively (Inbar et al., 2012).

Possibly, it could be argued that unpleasant odors of diseases would have similar effect on moral judgements and political affiliations of tested participants, but no such experiment has been conducted yet.

No research studying the effect of human body odors of people suffering from a disease/illness on the behavior of others has been conducted. However, the tendency to hedonically rate disease-related odors as more unpleasant, more intense, and unhealthier emerged. Furthermore, olfactory cues can play a role in the activation of BIS which can lead to avoidance behavior or have other effects on social phenomena such as xenophobia, social distancing, conformity, or political conservativism. Hence, it could be speculated

that the odors of illnesses/diseases could activate BIS and navigate similar behavioral tendencies as explored for example through visual modality.

# 5. Diagnostics

The detection of disease-related olfactory cues might activate the mechanisms of BIS, induce disgust, and possibly lead to avoidance response, or to increase conformity to social norms, xenophobia, or ethnocentrism which should serve as ways to decrease the chance of pathogen exposure and subsequent infection. However, as formerly mentioned, BIS includes cognitive processes that allow people to empathize with those who are suffering from an illness or are disabled and allows to employ other strategies than avoidance behavior (Dongen, 2001; Jackson & Griffiths, 2014; Pryor et al., 2004). One of the possible outcomes of smelling a disease might be a correct diagnosis and subsequent choice of appropriate treatment. Hence, olfactory disease-related cues have a major potential to serve as early markers of ongoing issues, and odors could be used in simple non-invasive diagnostic tests.

As briefly outlined in Chapter 3, throughout history, various human body odors were used as markers for disease diagnostics. For example, Hippocrates, Galen, and Avicenna associated specific odors of urine, breath, or sputum with certain diseases. In modern times, diagnostics based on body odor cues has been rather underestimated, but it turns out body odors and further VOCs analysis of people suffering from a disease might have a potential. Furthermore, as it has been demonstrated by previously mentioned case studies, some medical professionals seem to come back to diagnostics based on olfactory cues (Centerwall & Centerwall, 2000; Hayden, 1980; Smith & Strang, 1958).

Famously, canines are considered magnificent smellers and have been trained to detect an odor of a specific disease in multiple cases. In addition, even other animals like mosquitoes, rats or mice might be trained to differentiate the odors of sick and healthy individuals. Although people are not commonly considered to be as great smellers as dogs are, they are able to smell many odors and their olfaction is excellent (McGann, 2017). The odors of diseases are no exception, as people can detect those too (Centerwall & Centerwall, 2000; Hayden, 1980; Sarolidou et al., 2020b). Especially hyperosmic individuals seem to have above average skills in detecting the smell of diseases. Additionally, powerful technological tools such as gas chromatography (GC), gas chromatography and mass spectrometry (GC-MS), or electronic noses are being used to identify disease-related VOCs (Kolk et al., 2010; Thriumani et al., 2018).

## 5.1 Diagnostics by Animals

With dogs' extraordinary capacity to detect and discriminate a major specter of odors, even at very minute concentrations, for long they have been used in various fields including law enforcement, in search and rescue teams, or military. They even turned out to be of help in the medical field and diagnostics, as it is possible to train them to discriminate between sick and healthy odors. Throughout the thesis, several examples of studies featuring dogs identifying diseases based on body odors have been introduced. Mostly, trained dogs are used to smell samples of various types of cancers. They could distinguish between samples of ovarian, bladder, lung cancers and healthy tissues, possibly suggesting a carcinoma-specific odor with a VOCs profile (Ehmann et al., 2012; Horvath et al., 2008, 2010; Willis et al., 2004). To illustrate on an example, Labradors could correctly identify patients suffering from colorectal cancer based on watery-stool samples with correct statistical significance, the tests were performed multiple times and confounding variables like smoking, other colorectal or inflammatory diseases did not affect the results (Sonoda et al., 2011).

Not only can dogs detect odors related to cancer, but they also seem to be capable of detecting infectious diseases. They turned out to detect the smell of bacteria *Clostridium difficile* (causing bowel infection causing diarrhea) from stool samples (Bomers et al., 2012, 2014; Bryce et al., 2017), infectious bacteria causing urinary tract infections (Maurer et al., 2016), and possibly to detect metabolic changes due to viral infections as in the case of bovine viral diarrhea virus, or coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (Angle et al., 2016; Grandjean et al., pre-print). It was amidst the world pandemic of coronavirus disease SARS-CoV-2 that dogs were employed to detect the smell of infected patients. Although it was in studies which have not yet been peer-reviewed, the preliminary results show that dogs could detect the odor on pieces of clothing worn by infected individuals who were asymptomatic, or only had mild symptoms with high accuracy similar to RT-PCR tests and in a faster manner – they could do it within seconds, showing another evidence suggesting dog's impeccable ability to diagnose an illness based on odors (Grandjean et al., pre-print; Guest et al., pre-print; Jendrny et al., preprint).

Furthermore, foot odors of young children suffering from malaria presented to two trained dogs and they managed to distinguish the odors with mean sensitivity of more than 80% (Guest et al., 2019). When combined with the results from the study described in Chapter 3 showing that mosquitos are more attracted to the individuals that are infected with malaria, it seems that malaria too alters human body odor and could be diagnosed with the help of olfaction (Busula et al., 2017; Lacroix et al., 2005; Robinson et al., 2018). Interestingly, dogs even showed a responsive behavior towards samples of odors from patients suffering from epileptic seizures and discriminate them from their non-seizure states (Catala et al., 2019), or a tendency in detecting patient of narcolepsy (Dominguez-Ortega et al., 2013).

Dogs seem to perform correct diagnostics in many cases with sensitivity and specificity higher than chance. With their help specific VOCs related to illnesses could be identified to solve their biological profile. However, it must be noted that different breeds of dogs, approaches used in training and in administering the samples have been used. Various breeds of dogs vary in their smelling ability, it even depends on an individual dog within the breed. Some studies themselves remark that sometimes it is unclear whether the dogs could sniff out specific VOCs related to cancer, or other disease-related processes – like inflammation. Theoretically, VOCs produced by tumors that dogs can detect might be products of MHC genes mainly due to two reasons. As introduced in Chapter 2, MHC (HLA in humans) potentially influences human body odor. In addition, changes in HLA seem to have an association with cancer. Tumor transformation is often associated with low molecules expression of classical HLA class I, suggesting a relation between the two (Balseiro & Correia, 2006).

Nonetheless, dogs, or mosquitoes are not the only animals capable to smell an illness. Even though they are not necessarily traditionally used in diagnostics per se and do not seem to show a spontaneous preference for diseased individuals, it is possible to train mice to discriminate odors of for example cancerous patients (Kokocinska et al., 2020; Sato et al., 2017). Moreover, rats could even detect odors of infectious tuberculosis when presented with sputum samples (Kanaan et al., 2021; Mulder et al., 2017; Reither et al., 2015).

Even though animal studies are promising and show potential in the field of diagnosing diseases using human body odor, they do have some drawbacks. Animal trainings are lengthy, expensive, could lead to exhaustion and animals cannot report on

their used strategy and be involved in day-to-day diagnostics. Animals' behavior can be potentially unpredictable, vulnerable to distractions and other stimuli in the environment limiting their use outside laboratory when not reflected upon (Hackner & Pleil, 2017). Moreover, in case of infectious diseases, dogs could have the risk of possible infection from the pathogens, hence should be tested regularly.

Nevertheless, animal smelling skills are priceless and could help in the process of developing highly functioning technologies using molecular analysis with great precision.

## 5.2 Diagnostics by Humans

Even though it is often overlooked, people too can smell the odors of diseases. As previously mentioned, multiple times several diseases were associated with different types of odors (Centerwall & Centerwall, 2000; Hayden, 1980; Smith & Strang, 1958). Possibly, all people can use their sense of smell more and use it for diagnostic purposes when one's smell somehow differs. However, in the process of diagnostics, hyperosmic individuals with above-average smelling skills might be useful in the creation of advanced tools in medical practice.

In Chapter 3, a hyperosmic woman who could smell the odor of Parkinson's disease (PD) was introduced. Firstly, she noticed a peculiar smell emanating from her husband, but years later recognized that all PD patients had a nasty musky scent of different intensity. The characteristic odor was displeasing to Milne, she argued with her husband to shower more, but it did not help. Additionally, the odor had a lasting effect on bed sheets and clothing and was difficult to wash it off. Although she considered the odor unpleasant, and her BIS could have potentially activated as she employed different strategies to get rid of the unpleasant smell - she decided to contact PD-involved researchers to elaborate. At first, her observations were dismissed, however a pilot study with 12 individuals involving 6 PD patients and 6 controls showed her success rate to be 100%. She even identified 1 patient from the control group who was diagnosed months later (Morgan, 2016). After the case had been covered in media, several other people

reported they could distinguish the specific smell of PD, and other diseases supporting the trend.

Currently no blood and laboratory tests to diagnose non-genetic PD exist, and no known cure exists. PD is diagnosed by neurologists mainly based on occurrence of symptoms of shaking, balance issues, slowness. In addition, these signs often appear in advanced stages of the disease and may co-occur with other diseases as well and patients might be misdiagnosed. The symptoms might be relieved by medicine, surgery, or other therapy, but the earlier it is diagnosed, the more effective the course of the disease might be. For that reason, Milne's abilities brought enthusiasm to researchers in various fields. Her ability to correctly identify specific VOCs related to PD (or even other diseases), could potentially lead to a development of a commercially used diagnostic tool to detect PD in its early stages, before any other signs appear. The odor was mostly related to sebum on the upper back; hence any further analyses primarily focus on it. A study which aimed to discover biomarkers of PD present in sebum, found 10 compounds associated with PD patients using spectrometry methods (Sinclair et al., 2021). Similar and promising results were replicated in another study as well by using a simple, non-invasive skin swab of sebum on their backs Sinclair et. al (2021). Based on current research, the goal is to create a non-invasive, inexpensive, widespread commercially used test to analyze the odor of the sebum of an individual and provide reliable results. Possibly, Milne's sense of smell, or the abilities of other hyperosmic people might be used in identifying VOCs in other diseases. Based on her personal reports tuberculosis smells like wet cardboard and brine, Alzheimer's disease like musky vanilla, liver disease smells fecal, and cancer allegedly has an "earthy smell".

# 5.3 Diagnostics by Analysis of Volatile Organic Compounds

The idea to use human body odors and analyze VOCs emanating from skin, breath, or urine is highly valued, because it is a non-invasive and quite promising method of diagnosing various illnesses and diseases in their early stages even in cases when other diagnostic techniques fail. It motivates a development of odor detection instruments which work unambiguously, with high reliability and validity of detection and analysis of VOCs at highly accurate levels.

Hence, various advanced technologies like GC, GC-MS, or electronic noses emerged which can identify illness-specific biomarkers. Above, these technologies have been shown to be used in the analysis of the smell of cancer, Parkinson's disease, cholera, tuberculosis, or other diseases in VOCs analysis. Technologies based on GC firstly separate the complex VOCs mixture into individual compounds and thereafter analyze them in a sequence using a detector. The detector could be a gas sensor, MS system, or ion mobility spectrometry. These tools are highly sensitive and effective, but typically do not operate in real time and are not viable for quick analysis that could be performed at home, or even at the doctor's office. Therefore, smaller sensor systems have been in development to detect various odors. Portable GC-MS technologies have been introduced to address the issue and reduce the runtime, but the results are less accurate (Poirier et al., 2021). In addition, electronic noses (e-noses) belong to one of these real time technologies and represent a device that should enable to identify and discriminate between diseases. These devices should be able to analyze exhaled breath, VOCs in urine, blood, or sweat – all reported in Chapter 1 as important sources of human body odor. In e-noses, VOCs are presented to a sampling interface and encounter a gas sensor, consequently a response is transmitted to a computer which tries to recognize a pattern. However, all e-noses do need further research to perfect them and utilize it in commercial environment, mainly due to incomplete VOCs profiles of most diseases.

To illustrate, when two types of e-noses were tested to analyze the sputum samples of individuals with tuberculosis, the results showed them to be insufficient in differentiating the samples necessary at diagnostic levels (Kolk et al., 2010). In the case of melanoma patients, VOCs emitted by skin lesions analyzed by e-nose showed accuracy of around 80% which was similar to more time-consuming diagnostic methods at the time (D'amico et al., 2008). Examining urine samples of 15 subjects with diabetes type II. with the help of e-nose technology distinguished them from the control with a success rate of 97%, although promising, it must be taken with caution as most of the devices are in their prototype stages and far from the state when they can be used as reliable commercial products (Arasaradnam et al., 2011).

All studies have in common that they call for more research in their fields and specific VOCs profile of different diseases and illnesses are needed to fully use the potential of the devices. Potentially, hyperosmic individuals could collaborate and help

in the identification of VOCs as Milne did in case of PD. In her case, the research team separated individual VOCs and let her smell it and mark which ones make up the odor profile of the disease.

The odors related to illnesses and diseases could activate BIS and perhaps avoidance behavior mechanisms in order not to get infected. Nevertheless, in society people have the ability to cognitively evaluate the situation and act pro-socially, even in cases it could impair their health. It manifests itself in diagnostics, when individuals' symptoms are analyzed and consequently treated, if possible.

In current medicine, olfaction is rarely used, as usually more advanced diagnostics tools are available. However, it was demonstrated that VOCs emanating from disease-affected individuals might be of great importance in early and non-invasive diagnostics when other methods fail. Analysis of VOCs could potentially be cheaper, easier to operate, and testing could be performed on a regular basis, often detecting diseases in their early stages. With the help of dogs, or hyperosmic people, more advanced technological tools are created and show great potential in previously unexplored areas.

### 6. Discussion

According to various studies indicated above, some illnesses/diseases do have an impact on human body odor, affect it in a way that can be detected by others and potentially induce a behavioral response. Infectious diseases, metabolic, psychiatric disorders and neurological disorders, or even poising may impact human odors and are often characterized by foul, intensive, musty and musky smells, others have sweet and sugary odors. (Bondy et al., 1980; Menkes, 1959).

It was shown that disease-related cues could play a role in the behavioral immune system. In theory, the odors of ill conspecifics should be unpleasant, induce disgust (the main emotion in BIS) resulting in avoidance behavior ensuring not contracting an illness. Currently, a tendency appears for participants to hedonically rate the illness-related odors as more intensive and less pleasant. The odors of illnesses may induce neurological changes even at unconscious levels when no conscious hedonic negative rating occurs, and it should be explored further. However, it has not yet been studied if disgust was experienced by the affected.

This might very well work in case of some diseases that alter the body odor in a way which is considered unpleasant, but what about the cases when more pleasant odors are emanated that are similar to freshly baked bread, maple syrup, or sugary donut? Moreover, not all diseases are infectious, why would people avoid those that suffer with metabolic disorders, cancers, or toxin poisoning?

Not all diseases alter human body odor, although this needs further testing. In that case, it might be speculated why some diseases emanate a smell, whilst others not, or why can people detect only some if it should help them in avoiding getting ill. It is likely that disease-related odors are solely by-products of metabolic processes that occur when body goes through an illness. As explained earlier, in short, body odor is a result of bacteria and microorganisms breaking down sweat. In some illnesses, the pathogen alters the levels and types of those microbes which could adjust the odor. Also, activated immune system changes the excretion of certain metabolic products also changing the body chemistry. In that case, disease-related odors might not be an adaptive mechanism and play a specific role in disease avoidance whatsoever.

In addition, some disease-related smells are described as pungent and disgusting, others as sweet, cinnamon and bread like. Possibly, with the unpleasant smells of infectious diseases, people could have developed perceptual mechanisms that helped them to distinguish them better and avoid them. In most humans, the pleasant smells will probably not produce an emotion of disgust and avoidance behavior. The question then is, why some diseases could have the power to induce disgust, or at least are rated as unpleasant and off-putting, whilst other might be considered pleasant. When considering the odor of malaria, we could note that the malaria causing pathogen in line with the proposed manipulation theory alters the body odor in a way that is pleasant and attracts mosquitoes which helps the pathogens to spread more. It could benefit people to distinguish all diseases as unpleasant, or benefit pathogens to all smell nicely in order not to get avoided or be attracted by carriers and increasing their chance of transmission.

Not all illnesses are contagious - metabolic, genetic, psychiatric, or neurodegenerative disorders cannot be transmitted through direct contact and avoidance behavior is counterproductive. It could be speculated that people do not choose those individuals as partners in order to reproduce with them and pass on the same genes. Nonetheless, it was demonstrated that in line with overgeneralizing mechanisms of BIS, only superficial cues potentially indicating a disease are analyzed and people avoid those who pose no risk of infection, even if they are cognitively aware of it. Even psychiatric diseases like Schizophrenia which has been mentioned above to alter human odor develop earlier in life, or at least tends to be diagnosed in 20s and 30s (Gogtay et al., 2011). Hence, the partner selection theory could be valid for heterosexual couples in many metabolic, genetic, or psychiatric diseases that develop early in life. However, according to statistical data cancers, or neurodegenerative diseases often appear late in age when individuals are no longer in their reproductive phase. In case of cancer, approximately 70% of cancer cases occur in those aged over 50 (Roser & Ritchie, 2015). The prevalence of neurogenerative diseases also increases with higher age (Hou et al., 2019). Although, undoubtedly, those could also appear earlier in younger people as well, especially the trend is rising nowadays (Miller et al., 2020).

In case of poisoning, which is also not contagious, it might be beneficial to avoid those who employ risky behavior that got them poisoned in the first place and to avoid the environments in which the people occur and could have potentially been poisoned.

Even though, disease-related odors could very well play an important role in BIS and serve as cues to avoid pathogens and save the body's energy which would be instead used by PIS to defend the body, it is quite difficult to make sweeping generalizations. Unfortunately, no study has directly researched whether the odors of diseases elicit disgust. The fact that people tend to rate the odors as less pleasant and more intensive does not imply it elicits disgust, or that avoidance behavior would be employed. Future studies could employ more measuring techniques at once, the respondents could fill out standardized self-reporting questionnaires, neural activity could be scanned, facial electromyography would measure the activity of facial expressions and behavioral observance might be involved too. The integrated approach could clarify, or at least look closer at the mechanisms that follow detecting (whether consciously/unconsciously) an odor-related to illnesses and propose whether disgust ensues. Furthermore, the behavioral outcome which might follow has not been studied either and could be an interesting contribution to the field.

In general, the research is in its beginnings, but progressively it could be tested how different diseases are rated. Potentially, infectious, metabolic, or psychiatric diseases could induce different reactions. Some could be rated as pleasant, some unpleasant, or not hedonically detectable at all. In addition, it would be interesting whether some odors of diseases are only processed unconsciously and show some brain activity, whilst no self-reported change occurs, as has been already recorded by some studies (Regenbogen et al., 2017). Additionally, in line with research of de Groot et al. (2012) when it seems that the odor of disgust and fear is transmitted from the communicator to the receiver (emotional contagion), it could be studied if people exposed to odors of diseases also exhibit any activation of their PIS and whether their own body odor changes.

As mentioned in the previous chapters, some studies have been conducted to test people's reaction to the scent of illnesses, but mostly by using endotoxin LPS to artificially induce inflammatory processes (Olsson et al., 2014; Regenbogen et al., 2017; Sarolidou et al., 2020b). The approach has often been criticized even by the researchers themselves calling for more experiments done with natural sickness model. Although it was once conducted with a respiratory infection, the sample was small and the patients had only mild symptoms which could have not had an impact on the body odor and it has not been replicated since (Sarolidou, et al., 2020b). Though, the approach is logistically

demanding, and it is difficult to obtain multiple samples from patients suffering from an illness that meets the requirements. Also, it needs to be done with caution, as working with infectious diseases could endanger involved parties.

Moreover, the data on disease-related odors usually come from individual case studies, doctor's testimonies, or "common knowledge" (Centerwall & Centerwall, 2000; Hayden, 1980; Smith & Strang, 1958). Therefore, it might be beneficial to test people's hedonic ratings of odors affected by diseases, both infectious, metabolic, or psychiatric more systematically. It could show whether the odors are consciously detectable, but also how they are rated in terms of intensity, or pleasantness.

Nonetheless, chemical assays and volatile compounds analyses have been performed to pinpoint specific volatiles related to some diseases. That could very much help in creating diagnostics tools like e-noses which would be used as non-invasive, inexpensive tools that could perform routine diagnostics. The development process is quite arduous and lengthy. It is still necessary to compose full VOCs profiles of various disease which could reliably predict its occurrence. The size and price of the technology is currently also an issue, as the most precise GC-MS analyzing tools are quite spacious and expensive. Smaller technologies are less exact and commercially available for regular usage. However, it is only a matter of time, resources that the promising field will emerge, and certain diseases will be diagnosed via non-invasive VOCs analysis.

It has been demonstrated that each person has a unique body odor which is partly genetically determined but could be changed by diseases and illnesses. However, it must be mentioned, it is difficult to disentangle genetic and environmental factors contributing to body odor and hence to study the odor of a disease removed from other influences. The resulting body odor is always a combination of multiple factors which must be considered. For example, the body odor of an ill individual might be altered even due to the change of his/her hygienic practices, diet, liquid intake, medicine intake, induce of extensive sweating and even his/her mood. The researchers know confounding variables might have a possible impact, and try to keep them stable, or reduce them. For example, the subjects are asked to exclude certain foods from their diet, and in case of collecting samples of axillary odor, use non-perfumed cosmetic and hygienic products, abstain from sexual contact, or are asked to sleep alone in their bed (the samples are often collected at

night whilst the subjects are wearing a t-shirt with underarm pads) in the timeframe of the experiment. On the other hand, the laboratory conditions impact the ecological validity, as in real life it is not as strict and separable.

Additionally, even obtaining human body odor samples is not as straight-forward. In general, many studies regarding human body odors work mainly with samples from the axillae. Since they are richly covered with apocrine glands and bacteria, they are believed to give rise to the specific body odor. Also, the sample collection from the axillae is quite easy and straightforward. Despite that, other sources cannot be ignored. Even though, research covering the body odors of diseases also often includes urine or breath odor samples, other body sources are mostly omitted. So far, it is unclear whether and how body odors from different sources are related, but in a recent experiment it was demonstrated that in adult women and infants - axillary, breast, and head odors are informative and lead to recognition of the odor (Hierl et al., 2021; Poirier et al., 2021). Based on research done with the Parkinson's disease, it was demonstrated that even less expected places such as the upper back could inform about diseases with greater precision than axillary odor (Sinclair et al., 2021). Or in case of lung cancer, the odor of one's breath would be considered more essential. It serves as an example to consider paying attention to multiple body odor sources in future experiments, as different body parts can inform about various diseases more precisely.

One of the challenges that also needs to be addressed is related to tested populations. In general, psychological research is mostly done in western, educated, industrialized, rich and democratic countries (WEIRD), with odor related studies not being an exception. In case of research on olfaction, current studies cover rather old, deodorized, and desensitized (ODD) populations which mostly overlap with WEIRD countries. More specifically, it means that the studies are performed on Euro-American adult student populations, often excluding children, seniors, and non-Euro-American populations. However, human body odor perception, but even emanation might be quite culturally specific due to ethnicity, or dietary factors. For instance, when the odor detection skills of native Amazonian tribe of Tsimane' were compared to industrialized Germans, it turned out that Tsimane' population could detect n-butanol solutions at lower concentrations showing their better skills of odor detection (Sorokowska et al., 2013). The explanation might be cultural, environmental, genetic, or their combination, but the

important fact is that a difference emerged between a WEIRD/ODD and non-WEIRD/non-ODD population. It might be speculated that non-industrialized populations are better at using their sense of smell and would be better at identifying the odors of diseases and avoid them more often, as it would compensate for the lack of other diagnostic tools, or medicine. Possibly, these populations may have a more sensitive sense of smell, or they are simply better at it since they are more in touch with their natural scent and use their sense on a regular basis and it is only a question of repeated training. In case of a native tribe Onge of Andaman Islands they think in smells and define everything primarily by smell, it is a population that has a culture and a language rich in odors and it is part of their identity (Fox, 1999). It could be priceless to see their perception of odors related to diseases. Also, it could show that learning is a part of the process of using the sense of smell well, as it is integrated into every aspect of their life. In that case, similarly, other cultures could become more odor-sensitive if it was their conscious objective.

But odor emanation is specific as well. One of the factors is ethnicity. As already outlined in Chapter 2, most people of Asian descent have a specific mutation of the ABCC11 gene which results in a weaker axillary odor compared to those of African, or European descent (Martin et al., 2010). Moreover, another article states that axillary odors vary quantitatively based on ethnicity, but no qualitative differences were observed, adding that other biochemical pathways are involved in addition to ABCC11 (Prokop-Prigge et al., 2016). As a result, it could even have an impact on disease-related odors and their perception and emanation. The studies should cover various cultures and ethnicities to control for its possible impact. Also, it was previously mentioned that diet might be culture-specific too (more meat consumption in western regions) and it could impact the resulting odor, when combined with a certain disease, the profile could be different. Regarding cross-cultural studies of disease-related illnesses, it could be studied if the ratings and reactions of different diseases had been the same, or a different response would follow.

Most studies in olfaction are mainly performed in relation to mate choice and sexual selection. Mostly women are the raters of odor samples provided by men, since women are considered as the ones choosing their partner, also as better smellers putting greater emphasis on odors (Havlicek et al., 2005). However, it is not as straight-forward

to claim that mate choice is strictly one-sided, as men choose their partners too. In addition, it usually excludes non-heterosexual couples where communication based on odors might play a role. Nonetheless, it is beneficial for both males and females, regardless of their orientation to avoid pathogen exposure in case of social interactions with infected conspecifics, not only in cases of mate and sexual selection. Hence, it could be studied more universally – both women and men should rate and donate their body odors related to illnesses and diseases.

This thesis itself needs to be reflected as well. It presented a bigger picture of the role of disease-related odors, put it into context of the behavioral immune system and outlined possible social consequences. In addition, it showed a great potential of VOCs analysis and odor recognition of diseases and the benefit it could bring into diagnostics which could be timely, cheaper, non-invasive, and occurring at a regular basis. However, as it covered a rich spectrum of complex topics, some concepts were shortened, or discussed briefly.

### Conclusion

The main aim of this thesis was to critically review and evaluate current scientific research within the field of human body odors, illnesses/diseases, and behavioral immune system by conducting a thorough literature analysis.

It seems that some infectious illnesses, metabolic and genetic disorders, but even psychiatric disorders and poisoning affect body odor, but even urine and breath odor.

Importantly for the scope of this thesis, the question was whether disease-related olfactory cues can affect the behavior of other conspecifics. It seems that olfactory cues can play a role in behavioral immune system (BIS) which was proposed to exist as a set of psychological mechanisms to avoid pathogen exposure and consequent activation of costly physiological immune system (PIS). Based on several studies, body odors of donors injected with endotoxin LPS causing an immunological response mimicking a real-life infection, were rated as less pleasant and more intensive (Gordon et al., 2018; Olsson et al., 2014; Sarolidou et al., 2020b). Even a slight tendency to rate the odors of patients with respiratory disease as less pleasant emerged (Sarolidou et al., 2020b).

Therefore, it could be assumed that BIS would be activated based on perception of olfactory cues related to an illness which would thereafter start a process of affective mechanisms inducing disgust in the individual and cognitive mechanisms evaluating the risk of the situation which could all consequently lead to a behavioral response – avoidance behavior. As a result, the individual would avoid his/her pathogen exposure and save the body's energy, otherwise needed for PIS to operate.

Nonetheless, the activation of BIS might not be without its cost as well. As pathogens are undetectable by themselves, and BIS must operate based on superficial cues, sometimes mistakes are made, and BIS could activate towards people that do not pose as risk at all. Activation of BIS can influence multiple social situations. It affects sexual attitudes, social gregariousness, and even own moral, personal and political opinions and as a result people tend to become more conservative, restricted, cautious, and even more hateful. Repeatedly, it must be underlined, that currently, no research has

been performed to test whether disease/illness-related olfactory cues induce avoidance behavior and activate BIS, hence one must be careful when drawing any conclusion.

The smell of diseases might possibly lead to hostile or avoidant attitudes towards those who emanate it. At the same time, analysis and detection of volatile organic compounds related to numerous diseases might lead to prosocial behavior as well. Hence, the thesis covered diagnostics that could be performed by animals like dogs with great sniffing abilities, but even by hyperosmic individuals who with the help of experts could develop non-invasive, inexpensive tests to diagnose diseases in their early stages even when other methods fail. Many researchers work on electronic devices that could analyze VOCs particles emanating from different people and determining if they have an illness. However, still much work is required.

Researchers have come a long way in uncovering pieces of information about diseases impacting human body odor and the behavioral immune system. It seems that disease-related olfactory cues could be part of the behavioral immune system, but much is yet unknown. Even with all the unanswered questions and limitations, it is key to employ an interdisciplinary approach, combining knowledge from biology, social sciences, and technologies to understand the processes better.

# Bibliography

- Ackerman, J. M., Hill, S. E., & Murray, D. R. (2018). The behavioral immune system: Current concerns and future directions. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 12(2), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12371
- Ackerman, J., Merrell, W., & Choi, S. (2020). What people believe about detecting infectious disease using the senses. *Current Research in Ecological and Social Psychology*, *1*, 100002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cresp.2020.100002
- Al Aïn, S., & Frasnelli, J. A. (2017). Chapter 18 Intranasal Trigeminal
  Chemoreception. In P. M. Conn (Ed.), *Conn's Translational Neuroscience* (pp. 379–397). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12802381-5.00030-0
- Alaoui-Ismaïli, O., Robin, O., Rada, H., Dittmar, A., & Vernet-Maury, E. (1997). Basic emotions evoked by odorants: Comparison between autonomic responses and self-evaluation. *Physiology and Behavior*, 62(4), 713–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(97)90016-0
- Allen, C., Havlíček, J., & Roberts, S. C. (2019). The Effects of Artificial Fragrances on Human Olfactory Communication. *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 14*, *1*, 107–117. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17616-7\_9
- Amagase, H. (2006). Significance of garlic and its constituents in cancer and cardiovascular disease: Clarifying the Real Bioactive Constituents of Garlic. *Journal of Nutrition*, *136*(3), 716–725. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/136.3.v
- Angle, T., Passler, T., Waggoner, L., Fischer, T., Rogers, B., Galik, P., & Maxwell, H.
  (2016). Real-Time Detection of a Virus Using Detection Dogs. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2015.00079
- Arakawa, H., Arakawa, K., & Deak, T. (2009). Acute Illness Induces the Release of Aversive Odor Cues From Adult, but Not Prepubertal, Male Rats and Suppresses Social Investigation by Conspecifics. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *123*(5), 964–978. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017114
- Arasaradnam, R. P., Quraishi, N., Kyrou, I., Nwokolo, C. U., Joseph, M., Kumar, S., Bardhan, K. D., & Covington, J. A. (2011). Insights into "fermentonomics": Evaluation of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in human disease using an electronic "e-nose." *Journal of Medical Engineering and Technology*, 35(2), 87–

- 91. https://doi.org/10.3109/03091902.2010.539770
- Austin, C., & Ellis, J. (2003). Microbial pathways leading to steroidal malodour in the axilla. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 87(1), 105–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-0760(03)00387-X
- Axelsson, J., Sundelin, T., Olsson, M. J., Sorjonen, K., Axelsson, C., Lasselin, J., & Lekander, M. (2018). Identification of acutely sick people and facial cues of sickness. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 285(1870), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.2430
- Ayabe-Kanamura, S., Schicker, I., Laska, M., Hudson, R., Distel, H., Kobayakawa, T., & Saito, S. (1998). Differences in perception of everyday odors: A Japanese-German cross-cultural study. *Chemical Senses*, *23*(1), 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/23.1.31
- Aylıkcı, B. U., & Colak, H. (2013). Halitosis: From diagnosis to management. *Journal of Natural Science, Biology, and Medicine*, 4(1), 14–23. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-9668.107255
- Baker, L. B. (2019). Physiology of sweat gland function: The roles of sweating and sweat composition in human health. *Temperature*, *6*(3), 211–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/23328940.2019.1632145
- Balseiro, S., & Correia, H. R. (2006). Is olfactory detection of human cancer by dogs based on major histocompatibility complex-dependent odour components? A possible cure and a precocious diagnosis of cancer. *Medical Hypotheses*, 66, 270–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2005.08.027
- Behrman, A. D., & Goertemoeller, S. (2009). What Is That Smell? *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 35(3), 263–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2009.02.013
- Block, E. (1985). The chemistry of garlic and onions. *Scientific American*, 252(3), 114–119. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0385-114
- Bomers, M., Agtmael, M., Luik, H., & Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C. (2014). A detection dog to identify patients with Clostridium difficile infection during a hospital outbreak. *The Journal of Infection*, 69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2014.05.017 Bomers, M., Agtmael, M., Luik, H., Veen, M., & Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C. (2012).
  - Using a dog's superior olfactory sensitivity to identify Clostridium difficile in stools and patients: Proof of principle study. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 345, e7396. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e7396

- Bondy, P., Rosenberg, L., & Duncan, G. (1980). Metabolic control and disease.
  Bone, E., Tamm, A., & Hill, M. (1976). The production of urinary phenols by gut bacteria and their possible role in the causation of large bowel cancer. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 29(12), 1448–1454.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/29.12.1448
- Brenner, C. J., & Inbar, Y. (2015). Disgust sensitivity predicts political ideology and policy attitudes in the Netherlands. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 45(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2072
- Bryce, E., Zurberg, T., Zurberg, M., Shajari, S., & Roscoe, D. (2017). Identifying environmental reservoirs of Clostridium difficile with a scent detection dog:

  Preliminary evaluation. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, 97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2017.05.023
- Burke, D. G., Halpern, B., Malegan, D., McCairns, E., Danks, D., Schlesinger, P., & Wilken, B. (1983). Profiles of urinary volatiles from metabolic disorders characterized by unusual odors. *Clinical Chemistry*, *29*(10), 1834–1838. https://doi.org/10.1093/clinchem/29.10.1834
- Busula, A. O., Bousema, T., Mweresa, C. K., Masiga, D., Logan, J. G., Sauerwein, R. W., Verhulst, N. O., Takken, W., & De Boer, J. G. (2017). Gametocytemia and attractiveness of plasmodium falciparum-infected Kenyan children to Anopheles gambiae mosquitoes. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 216(3), 291–295. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jix214
- Calvi, E., Quassolo, U., Massaia, M., Scandurra, A., D'Aniello, B., & D'Amelio, P. (2020). The scent of emotions: A systematic review of human intra- and interspecific chemical communication of emotions. *Brain and Behavior*, 10(5), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.1585
- Catala, A., Grandgeorge, M., Schaff, J.-L., Cousillas, H., Hausberger, M., & Cattet, J. (2019). Dogs demonstrate the existence of an epileptic seizure odour in humans. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 4103. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40721-4
- Centerwall, S. A., & Centerwall, W. R. (2000). The discovery of phenylketonuria: The story of a young couple, two retarded children, and a scientist. *Pediatrics*, *105*(1 I), 89–103. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.105.1.89
- Chalmers, R. A., Bain, M. D., Michelakakis, H., Zschocke, J., & Iles, R. A. (2006). Diagnosis and management of trimethylaminuria (FMO3 deficiency) in children.

- *Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease*, *29*(1), 162–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10545-006-0158-6
- Chapuisat, M., Oppliger, A., Magliano, P., & Christe, P. (2007). Wood ants use resin to protect themselves against pathogens. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B:*Biological Sciences, 274(1621), 2013–2017.

  https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2007.0531
- Chen, D., & Haviland-Jones, J. (1999). Rapid mood change and human odors.

  \*Physiology and Behavior, 68(1–2), 241–250.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/S00319384(99)00147-X
- Consedine, N. S., Yu, T. C., & Windsor, J. A. (2013). Nursing, pharmacy, or medicine?

  Disgust sensitivity predicts career interest among trainee health professionals.

  Advances in Health Sciences Education, 18(5), 997–1008. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10459-012-9439-z
- Costello, E. K., Lauber, C. L., Hamady, M., Fierer, N., Gordon, J. I., & Knight, R. (2009). Bacterial community variation in human body habitats across space and time. *Science*, *326*(5960), 1694–1697. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1177486
- Croy, I., Laqua, K., Süß, F., Joraschky, P., Ziemssen, T., & Hummel, T. (2013). The sensory channel of presentation alters subjective ratings and autonomic responses toward disgusting stimuli-Blood pressure, heart rate and skin conductance in response to visual, auditory, haptic and olfactory presented disgusting stimuli. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7(SEP), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00510
- Croy, I., Olgun, S., & Joraschky, P. (2011). Basic Emotions Elicited by Odors and Pictures. *Emotion*, 11(6), 1331–1335. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024437
- Culpepper, P. D., Havlícek, J., Leongómez, J. D., & Craig Roberts, S. (2018). Visually activating pathogen disgust: A new instrument for studying the behavioral immune system. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*(AUG), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01397
- Curtis, V., Aunger, R., & Rabie, T. (2004). Evidence that disgust evolved to protect from risk of disease. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 271(SUPPL. 4). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2003.0144
- Curtis, V., & Biran, A. (2001). Dirt, Disgust, and Disease: Is Hygiene in Our Genes?

  \*Perspectives in Biology and Medicine, 44, 17–31.

  https://doi.org/10.1353/pbm.2001.0001

- D'amico, A., Bono, R., Pennazza, G., Santonico, M., Mantini, G., Bernabei, M., Zarlenga, M., Roscioni, C., Martinelli, E., Paolesse, R., & Di Natale, C. (2008). Identification of melanoma with a gas sensor array. *Skin Research and Technology*, *14*(2), 226–236. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0846.2007.00284.x
- Davie, C. A. (2008). A review of Parkinson's disease. *British Medical Bulletin*, 86(1), 109–127. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldn013 de Groot, J. H. B., Smeets, M. A.
- M., Kaldewaij, A., Duijndam, M. J. A., & Semin, G.
  R. (2012). Chemo-signals Communicate Human Emotions. *Psychological Science*, 23(11), 1417–1424. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612445317 de Groot, J.
- H. B., Smeets, M. A. M., Rowson, M. J., Bulsing, P. J., Blonk, C. G.,
  Wilkinson, J. E., & Semin, G. R. (2015). A Sniff of Happiness. *Psychological Science*, 26(6), 684–700. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797614566318
- Di Natale, C., Paolesse, R., D'Arcangelo, G., Comandini, P., Pennazza, G., Martinelli,
  E., Rullo, S., Roscioni, M. C., Roscioni, C., Finazzi-Agrò, A., & D'Amico, A.
  (2005). Identification of schizophrenic patients by examination of body odor using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry and a cross-selective gas sensor array.
  Medical Science Monitor, 11(8), 366–375.
- Dominguez-Ortega, D., Gallego, E. D., Pozo, F., García-Armenter, C., SerranoComino, M., & Dominguez-Sanchez, E. (2013). Narcolepsy and odour:

  Preliminary report. *Sleep Medicine*, *14*, e108–e109. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2013.11.237
- Dongen, E. (2001). It isn't something to yodel about, but it exists! Faeces, nurses, social relations and status with a mental hospital. *Aging & Mental Health*, *5*, 205–215. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860120064952
- Doty, R. L. (1981). Olfactory communication in humans. *Chemical Senses*, 6(4), 351–376. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/6.4.351
- Doucet, S., Soussignan, R., Sagot, P., & Schaal, B. (2009). The secretion of Areolar (Montgomery's) glands from lactating women elicits selective, unconditional responses in neonates. *PLoS ONE*, 4(10). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007579
- Edwards, J. C., & Barnard, C. J. (1987). The effects of Trichinella infection on intersexual interactions between mice. *Animal Behaviour*, *35*(2), 533–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(87)80278-6

- Ehmann, R., Boedeker, E., Friedrich, U., Sagert, J., Dippon, J., Friedel, G., & Walles, T. (2012). Canine scent detection in the diagnosis of lung cancer: Revisiting a puzzling phenomenon. *European Respiratory Journal*, *39*(3), 669–676. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00051711
- Engen, T., & Corbit, T. E. (1970). Feasibility of olfactory coding of noxious substances to assure aversive responses in young children.
- Faulkner, J., Schaller, M., Park, J. H., & Duncan, L. A. (2004). Evolved disease-avoidance mechanisms and contemporary xenophobic attitudes. *Group Processes and Intergroup Relations*, 7(4), 333–353. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430204046142
- Ferdenzi, C., Schaal, B., & Roberts, S. C. (2010). Family scents: Developmental changes in the perception of kin body odor? *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, *36*(8), 847–854. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-010-9827-x
- Fialová, J., Hoffmann, R., Roberts, S. C., & Havlíček, J. (2019). The effect of complete caloric intake restriction on human body odour quality. *Physiology and Behavior*, 210(May). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.05.015
- Fialová, J., Roberts, S. C., & Havlíček, J. (2016). Consumption of garlic positively affects hedonic perception of axillary body odour. *Appetite*, *97*, 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.11.001
- Folk, G. E., & Semken, A. (1991). The evolution of sweat glands. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, *35*(3), 180–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01049065 Fox, K. (1999). *The Smell Report An overview of facts and findings*.
- Gallagher, M., Wysocki, C. J., Leyden, J. J., Spielman, A. I., Sun, X., & Preti, G. (2008). Analyses of volatile organic compounds from human skin. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 159(4), 780–791. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.13652133.2008.08748.x
- Garner, C. E., Smith, S., Bardhan, P. K., Ratcliffe, N. M., & Probert, C. S. J. (2009). A pilot study of faecal volatile organic compounds in faeces from cholera patients in Bangladesh to determine their utility in disease diagnosis. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 103(11), 1171–1173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trstmh.2009.02.004

- Gildersleeve, K. A., Haselton, M. G., Larson, C. M., & Pillsworth, E. G. (2012). Body odor attractiveness as a cue of impending ovulation in women: Evidence from a study using hormone-confirmed ovulation. *Hormones and Behavior*, *61*(2), 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2011.11.005
- Glass, S. T., Lingg, E., & Heuberger, E. (2014). Do ambient urban odors evoke basic emotions? . In *Frontiers in Psychology* (Vol. 5, p. 340). https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00340
- Goerdeler, K. J., Wegge, J., Schrod, N., Bilinska, P., & Rudolf, M. (2015). "Yuck, that's disgusting!"—"No, not to me!": Antecedents of disgust in geriatric care and its relation to emotional exhaustion and intention to leave. *Motivation and Emotion*, 39(2), 247–259. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-014-9431-4
- Gogtay, N., Vyas, N. S., Testa, R., Wood, S. J., & Pantelis, C. (2011). Age of onset of schizophrenia: perspectives from structural neuroimaging studies. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *37*(3), 504–513. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbr030
- Goodall, J. (1986). Social rejection, exclusion, and shunning among the Gombe chimpanzees. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, 7(3–4), 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(86)90050-6
- Gordon, A. R., Kimball, B. A., Sorjonen, K., Karshikoff, B., Axelsson, J., Lekander, M., Lundström, J. N., & Olsson, M. J. (2018). Detection of Inflammation via Volatile Cues in Human Urine. *Chemical Senses*, *43*(9), 711–719. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjy059
- Gordon, S. G., Smith, K., Rabinowitz, L., & Vagelos, P. R. (1973). Studies of trans 3 methyl 2 hexenoic acid in normal and schizophrenic humans. *Journal of Lipid Research*, *14*(4), 495–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-2275(20)36883-8
- Gower, D. B., & Ruparelia, B. A. (1993). Olfaction in humans with special reference to odorous 16-androstenes: Their occurrence, perception and possible social, psychological and sexual impact. *Journal of Endocrinology*, *137*(2), 167–187. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1370167
- Grandjean, D., Sarkis, R., Tourtier, J.-P., Julien-Lecocq, C., Benard, A., Roger, V., Levesque, E., Bernes-Luciani, E., Maestracci, B., Morvan, P., Gully, E., Berceau-Falancourt, D., Pesce, J.-L., Lecomte, B., Haufstater, P., Herin, G., Cabrera, J., Muzzin, Q., Gallet, C., & Desquilbet, L. (2020). *Detection dogs as a help in the*

- detection of COVID-19: Can the dog alert on COVID-19 positive persons by sniffing axillary sweat samples? Proof-of-concept study. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.06.03.132134
- Guest, C., Dewhirst, S. Y., Allen, D. J., Aziz, S., Baerenbold, O., Chabildas, U., Chenhussey, V., Clifford, S., Cottis, L., Foley, E., Gezan, S. A., Gibson, T., Greaves, C.
  - K., Lambert, S., Last, A., Lindsay, S. W., Morant, S., Josephine, E., Parker, A., ... Logan, J. G. (n.d.). *Using trained dogs and organic semi-conducting sensors to identify asymptomatic and mild SARS-CoV-2 infections*.
- Guest, C., Pinder, M., Doggett, M., Squires, C., Affara, M., Kandeh, B., Dewhirst, S., Morant, S. V., D'Alessandro, U., Logan, J. G., & Lindsay, S. W. (2019). Trained dogs identify people with malaria parasites by their odour. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *19*(6), 578–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30220-8
- Haberkamp, A., Glombiewski, J. A., Schmidt, F., & Barke, A. (2017). The Disgust-Related-Images (DIRTI) database: Validation of a novel standardized set of disgust pictures. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 89, 86–94.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016.11.010
- Hackner, K., & Pleil, J. (2017). Canine olfaction as an alternative to analytical instruments for disease diagnosis: Understanding "dog personality" to achieve reproducible results. *Journal of Breath Research*, 11, 12001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1752-7163/aa5524
- Han, G. (2015). Origins of Bipedalism. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 58. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-89132015060399
- Havlicek, J., Dvorakova, R., Bartos, L., & Flegr, J. (2006). Non-advertized does not mean concealed: Body odour changes across the human menstrual cycle. *Ethology*, *112*(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0310.2006.01125.x
- Havlicek, J., Fialová, J., & Roberts, S. (2017). *Individual Variation in Body Odor* (pp. 125–126). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-26932-0\_50
- Havlicek, J., & Lenochova, P. (2006). The effect of meat consumption on body odor attractiveness. *Chemical Senses*, 31(8), 747–752. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjl017

- Havlicek, J., & Roberts, S. C. (2009). MHC-correlated mate choice in humans: A review. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 34(4), 497–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.10.007
- Havlicek, J., Roberts, S., & Flegr, J. (2005). Women's preference for dominant male odour: Effects of menstrual cycle and relationship status. *Biology Letters*, *1*, 256–259. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2005.0332
- Havlicek, J., Winternitz, J., & Craig Roberts, S. (2020). Major histocompatibility complex-associated odour preferences and human mate choice: Near and far horizons. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 375(1800). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0260
- Hayden, G. F. (1980). Olfactory diagnosis in medicine. *Postgraduate Medicine*, 67(4), 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.1980.11715427
- Henderson, A. J., Lasselin, J., Lekander, M., Olsson, M. J., Powis, S. J., Axelsson, J., & Perrett, D. I. (2017). Skin colour changes during experimentally-induced sickness. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 60, 312–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.11.008
- Hepper, P. G. (1988). The discrimination of human odour by the dog. *Perception*, 17(4), 549–554. https://doi.org/10.1068/p170549
- Hierl, K., Croy, I., & Schäfer, L. (2021). Body Odours Sampled at Different Body Sites in Infants and Mothers-A Comparison of Olfactory Perception. *Brain Sciences*, *11*(6), 820. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11060820
- Hill, S., Prokosch, M., & Delpriore, D. (2015). The Impact of Perceived Disease Threat on Women's Desire for Novel Dating and Sexual Partners: Is Variety the Best Medicine? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 109. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000024
- Honig, P. J., Frieden, I. J., Kim, H. J., & Yan, A. C. (2003). Streptococcal Intertrigo: An Underrecognized Condition in Children. *Pediatrics*, *112*(6), 1427 LP 1429. http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/112/6/1427.abstract
- Horvath, G., Andersson, H., & Paulsson, G. (2010). Characteristic odour in the blood reveals ovarian carcinoma. *BMC Cancer*, *10*(1), 643. https://doi.org/10.1186/14712407-10-643
- Horvath, G., Jarverud, G. A. K., Jarverud, S., & Horvath, I. (2008). Human ovarian carcinomas detected by specific odor. *Integrative Cancer Therapies*, 7(2), 76–80. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534735408319058

- Hou, Y., Dan, X., Babbar, M., Wei, Y., Hasselbalch, S. G., Croteau, D. L., & Bohr, V.
  A. (2019). Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 15(10), 565–581. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-019-0244-7
- Inbar, Y., Pizarro, D. A., & Bloom, P. (2012). Disgusting smells cause decreased liking of gay men. *Emotion*, 12(1), 23–27. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023984 Inhorn, M. C., & Brown, P. J. (2013). The anthropology of infectious disease:
  - International health perspectives. *The Anthropology of Infectious Disease: International Health Perspectives*, 1–495. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315078366
- Iversen, K. D., Ptito, M., Møller, P., & Kupers, R. (2015). Enhanced chemosensory detection of negative emotions in congenital blindness. *Neural Plasticity*, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/469750
- Jackman, P. J. H., & Noble, W. C. (2006). Normal axillary skin microflora in various populations. *Clinical and Experimental Dermatology*, 8(3), 259–268. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6411399
- Jackson, C., & Griffiths, P. (2014). Dirt and disgust as key drivers in nurses' infection control behaviours: An interpretative, qualitative study. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, 87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2014.04.001
- Janeway, C. A. (2001). How the immune system protects the host from infection.

  Microbes and Infection, 3(13), 1167–1171.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/S12864579(01)01477-0
- Jendrny, P., Schulz, C., Twele, F., Meller, S., Köckritz-Blickwede, M., Osterhaus, A., Ebbers, J., Pilchová, V., Pink, I., Welte, T., Manns, M., Fathi, A., Ernst, C., Addo, M., Schalke, E., & Volk, H. (2020). Scent dog identification of samples from COVID-19 patients A pilot study. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-020-05281-3
- Jones, A., & Fitness, J. (2008). Moral Hypervigilance: The Influence of Disgust Sensitivity in the Moral Domain. *Emotion*, 8(5), 613–627. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013435
- Kaitz, M., & Eidelman, A. I. (1992). Smell-recognition of newborns by women who are not mothers. *Chemical Senses*, 17(2), 225–229. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/17.2.225

- Kaitz, M., Good, A., Rokem, A. M., & Eidelman, A. I. (1987). Mothers' recognition of their newborns by olfactory cues. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 20(6), 587–591. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.420200604
- Kanaan, R., Farkas, N., Hegyi, P., Soos, A., Hegyi, D., Nemeth, K., Horvath, O., Tenk, J., Miko, A., Szentesi, A., Balaskó, M., Szakács, Z., Vasas, A., Csupor, D., & Gyongyi, Z. (2021). Rats sniff out pulmonary tuberculosis from sputum: a diagnostic accuracy meta-analysis. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 1877. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-81086-x
- Kavaliers, M., Choleris, E., & Pfaff, D. W. (2005). Genes, odours and the recognition of parasitized individuals by rodents. *Trends in Parasitology*, *21*(9), 423–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2005.07.008
- Kavaliers, M., & Colwell, D. D. (1995). Odours of parasitized males induce aversive responses in female mice. *Animal Behaviour*, 50(5), 1161–1169. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-3472(95)80032-8
- Kokocińska, A., Matalińska, J., Sacharczuk, M., Sobczynska, M., Goral-Radziszewska, K., Wilenska, B., Misicka, A., & Jezierski, T. (2020). Can mice be trained to discriminate urine odor of conspecifics with melanoma before clinical symptoms appear? *Journal of Veterinary Behavior*, 39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2020.04.004
- Kolk, A., Hoelscher, M., Maboko, L., Jung, J., Kuijper, S., Cauchi, M., Bessant, C.,
  Van Beers, S., Dutta, R., Gibson, T., & Reither, K. (2010). Electronic-nose technology using sputum samples in diagnosis of patients with tuberculosis.
  Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 48(11), 4235–4238.
  https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00569-10
- Kuhn, F., & Natsch, A. (2009). Body odour of monozygotic human twins: A common pattern of odorant carboxylic acids released by a bacterial amino-acylase from axilla secretions contributing to an inherited body odour type. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 6(33), 377–392. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2008.0223
- Lacroix, R., Mukabana, W. R., Gouagna, L. C., & Koella, J. C. (2005). Malaria infection increases attractiveness of humans to mosquitoes. *PLoS Biology*, *3*(9), 1590–1593. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030298
- Leyden, J. J., McGinley, K. J., Holzle, E., Labows, J. N., & Kligman, A. M. (1981). The microbiology of the human axilla and its relationship to axillary odor. *Journal of*

- *Investigative Dermatology*, 77(5), 413–416. https://doi.org/10.1111/15231747.ep12494624
- Liebich, H. M. (1975). Gas chromatographic-mass tileorganic metabolites.
- Ligor, T., Ligor, M., Amann, A., Ager, C., Bachler, M., Dzien, A., & Buszewski, B. (2008). The analysis of healthy volunteers' exhaled breath by the use of solidphase microextraction and GC-MS. *Journal of Breath Research*, *2*(4). https://doi.org/10.1088/1752-7155/2/4/046006
- Lobmaier, J. S., Fischbacher, U., Wirthmüller, U., & Knoch, D. (2018). The scent of attractiveness: Levels of reproductive hormones explain individual differences in women's body odour. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 285(1886). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.1520
- Lochmiller, R. L., & Deerenberg, C. (2000). Trade-offs in evolutionary immunology:

  Just what is the cost of immunity? *Oikos*, 88(1), 87–98.

  https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.880110.x
- Lowe, J. S., & Anderson, P. G. (2015). Chapter 18 Skin and Breast. In J. S. Lowe & P. G. Anderson (Eds.), *Stevens & Lowe's Human Histology (Fourth Edition) (Fourth Edition)* (Fourth Edi, pp. 363–384). Mosby. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7234-3502-0.00018-8
- Majid, A., Roberts, S. G., Cilissen, L., Emmorey, K., Nicodemus, B., O'Grady, L.,
  Woll, B., LeLan, B., De Sousa, H., Cansler, B. L., Shayan, S., De Vos, C., Senft,
  G., Enfield, N. J., Razak, R. A., Fedden, S., Tufvesson, S., Dingemanse, M.,
  Ozturk, O., ... Levinson, S. C. (2018). Differential coding of perception in the
  world's languages. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(45), 11369–11376.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1720419115
- Manolls, A. (1983). The Diagnostic Potential of Breath Analysis. *Direct*, 29(1), 5–15.
- Markel, H., & Stern, A. M. (2002). The Foreignness of Germs: The Persistent Association of Immigrants and Disease in American Society. *Milbank Quarterly*, 80(4), 757–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.00030
- Martin, A., Hellhammer, J., Hero, T., Max, H., Schult, J., & Terstegen, L. (2011). Effective prevention of stress-induced sweating and axillary malodour formation in teenagers. *International Journal of Cosmetic Science*, *33*(1), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2494.2010.00596.x

- Martin, Annette, Saathoff, M., Kuhn, F., Max, H., Terstegen, L., & Natsch, A. (2010). A functional ABCC11 allele is essential in the biochemical formation of human axillary odor. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *130*(2), 529–540. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2009.254
- Maurer, M., Mcculloch, M., Willey, A., Hirsch, W., & Dewey, D. (2016). Detection of Bacteriuria by Canine Olfaction. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*, *3*, ofw051. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofw051
- McGann, J. P. (2017). Poor human olfaction is a 19th-century myth. *Science*, *356*(6338). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam7263
- Menkes, J. H. (1959). Maple syrup disease. *Neurology*, *9*(12), 826. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.9.12.826
- Michalak, N. M., Sng, O., Wang, I. M., & Ackerman, J. (2020). Sounds of sickness: Can people identify infectious disease using sounds of coughs and sneezes?: Sounds of Sickness. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 287(1928). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.0944rspb20200944
- Miekisch, W., Schubert, J. K., & Noeldge-Schomburg, G. F. E. (2004). Diagnostic potential of breath analysis Focus on volatile organic compounds. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, *347*(1–2), 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cccn.2004.04.023
- Miller, K. D., Fidler-Benaoudia, M., Keegan, T. H., Hipp, H. S., Jemal, A., & Siegel, R. L. (2020). Cancer statistics for adolescents and young adults, 2020. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 70(6), 443–459.
  https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21637
- Miller, S. L., & Maner, J. K. (2012). Overperceiving disease cues: The basic cognition of the behavioral immune system. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 102(6), 1198–1213. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027198
- Mills, G. A., & Walker, V. (2001). Headspace solid-phase microextraction profiling of volatile compounds in urine: Application to metabolic investigations. *Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications*, 753(2), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4347(00)00554-5
- Mitro, S., Gordon, A. R., Olsson, M. J., & Lundstrom, J. N. (2012). The smell of age: Perception and discrimination of body odors of different ages. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038110

- Moghbel, A., Farjzadeh, A., Aghel, N., Agheli, H., & Raisi, N. (2012). Evaluation of the effect of green tea extract on mouth bacterial activity in the presence of propylene glycol. *Jundishapur Journal of Natural Pharmaceutical Products*, 7(2), 56–60. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24624155
- Morgan, J. (2016). Joy of super smeller: Sebum clues for PD diagnostics. *The Lancet Neurology*, *15*(2), 138–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00396-8
- Mortensen, C. R., Becker, D. V., Ackerman, J. M., Neuberg, S. L., & Kenrick, D. T. (2010). Infection breeds reticence: The effects of disease salience on selfperceptions of personality and behavioral avoidance tendencies. *Psychological Science*, 21(3), 440–447. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797610361706
- Moshkin, M., Litvinova, N., Litvinova, E. A., Bedareva, A., Lutsyuk, A., & Gerlinskaya, L. (2012). Scent Recognition of Infected Status in Humans. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 9(12), 3211–3218. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.17436109.2011.02562.x
- Mujica-Parodi, L. R., Strey, H. H., Frederick, B., Savoy, R., Cox, D., Botanov, Y., Tolkunov, D., Rubin, D., & Weber, J. (2009). Chemosensory cues to conspecific emotional stress activate amygdala in humans. *PLoS ONE*, 4(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006415
- Mulder, C., Mgode, G., Ellis, H., Valverde, E., Beyene, N., Cox, C., Reid, S. E., Hoog, A., & Edwards, T. (2017). Accuracy of giant African pouched rats for diagnosing tuberculosis: Comparison with culture and Xpert® MTB/RIF. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 21, 1127-1133+i. https://doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.17.0139
- Murray, D. R., & Schaller, M. (2012). Threat(s) and conformity deconstructed:

  Perceived threat of infectious disease and its implications for conformist attitudes and behavior. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 42(2), 180–188. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.863
- Nam, K.-C., Jo, C., & Lee, M. (2010). Meat products and consumption culture in the East. *Meat Science*, 86(1), 95–102. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.04.026
- Natsch, A., Derrer, S., Flachsmann, F., & Schmid, J. (2006). A broad diversity of volatile carboxylic acids, released by a bacterial aminoacylase from axilla

- secretions, as candicate molecules for the determination of human-body odor type. *Chemistry and Biodiversity*, *3*(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbdv.200690015
- Natsch, A., Schmid, J., & Flachsmann, F. (2004). Identification of odoriferous sulfanylalkanols in human axilla secretions and their formation through cleavage of cysteine precursors by a C-S lyase isolated from axilla bacteria. *Chemistry and Biodiversity*, 1(7), 1058–1072. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbdv.200490079
- Navarrete, C. D., Fessler, D. M. T., & Eng, S. J. (2007). Elevated ethnocentrism in the first trimester of pregnancy. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 28(1), 60–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2006.06.002
- Nesse, R. M. (2005). Natural selection and the regulation of defenses. A signal detection analysis of the smoke detector principle. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 26(1), 88–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2004.08.002
- Nettle, D. (2005). An evolutionary approach to the extraversion continuum. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 26(4), 363–373. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2004.12.004
- Oaten, M., Stevenson, R. J., & Case, T. I. (2009). Disgust as a Disease-Avoidance Mechanism. *Psychological Bulletin*, *135*(2), 303–321. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014823
- Olsson, M. J., Lundström, J. N., Kimball, B. A., Gordon, A. R., Karshikoff, B., Hosseini, N., Sorjonen, K., Olgart Höglund, C., Solares, C., Soop, A., Axelsson, J., & Lekander, M. (2014). The Scent of Disease: Human Body Odor Contains an Early Chemosensory Cue of Sickness. *Psychological Science*, *25*(3), 817–823. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613515681
- Ostaszkiewicz, J., O'Connell, B., & Dunning, T. (2016). "We just do the dirty work": Dealing with incontinence, courtesy stigma and the low occupational status of carework in long-term aged care facilities. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13292
- Oum, R. E., Lieberman, D., & Aylward, A. (2011). A feel for disgust: Tactile cues to pathogen presence. *Cognition and Emotion*, 25(4), 717–725. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2010.496997
- Pandey, S. K., & Kim, K. H. (2011). Human body-odor components and their determination. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, *30*(5), 784–796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2010.12.005

- Penn, D. J., Oberzaucher, E., Grammer, K., Fischer, G., Soini, H. A., Wiesler, D., Novotny, M. V., Dixon, S. J., Xu, Y., & Brereton, R. G. (2007). Individual and gender fingerprints in human body odour. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 4(13), 331–340. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2006.0182
- Penn, D. J., & Potts, W. K. (1999). The evolution of mating preferences and major histocompatibility complex genes. *American Naturalist*, *153*(2), 145–164. https://doi.org/10.1086/303166
- Phillips, M., Erickson, G. A., Sabas, M., Smith, J. P., & Greenberg, J. (1995). Volatile organic compounds in the breath of patients with schizophrenia. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 48(5), 466–469. https://doi.org/10.1136/jcp.48.5.466
- Phillips, M. L., Young, A. W., Scott, S. K., Calder, A. J., Andrew, C., Giampietro, V., Williams, S. C. R., Bullmore, E. T., Brammer, M., & Gray, J. A. (1998). Neural responses to facial and vocal expressions of fear and disgust. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 265(1408). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1998.0506
- Phillips, M, Sabas, M., & Greenberg, J. (1993). Increased pentane and carbon disulfide in the breath of patients with schizophrenia. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 46, 861–864.
- Phillips, M., Cataneo, R. N., Cummin, A. R. C., Gagliardi, A. J., Gleeson, K., Greenberg, J., Maxfield, R. A., & Rom, W. N. (2003). Detection of lung cancer with volatile markers in the breath. *Chest*, *123*(6), 2115–2123. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.123.6.2115
- Phillips, M., Cataneo, R. N., Saunders, C., Hope, P., Schmitt, P., & Wai, J. (2010).

  Volatile biomarkers in the breath of women with breast cancer. *Journal of Breath Research*, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.1088/1752-7155/4/2/026003
- Pinc, L., Bartos, L., Reslova, A., & Kotrba, R. (2011). Dogs discriminate identical twins. *PLoS ONE*, 6(6), 4–7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020704
- Poirier, A., Waterhouse, J., Watsa, M., Erkenswick, G., Moreira, L., Tang, J., Dunn, J., Melin, A., & Smith, A. (2021). On the trail of primate scent signals: A field analysis of callitrichid scent-gland secretions by portable gas chromatographymass spectrometry. *American Journal of Primatology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.23236
- Porter, R. H., Balogh, R. D., Cernoch, J. M., & Franchi, C. (1986). Recognition of kin through characteristic body odors. *Chemical Senses*, 11(3), 389–395.

- https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/11.3.389
- Porter, R. H., Cernoch, J. M., & Balogh, R. D. (1985). Odor signatures and kin recognition. *Physiology and Behavior*, *34*(3), 445–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(85)90210-0
- Porter, R. H., & Moore, J. D. (1981). Human kin recognition by olfactory cues. *Physiology and Behavior*, 27(3), 493–495.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/00319384(81)90337-1
- Prokop-Prigge, K. A., Greene, K., Varallo, L., Wysocki, C. J., & Preti, G. (2016). The Effect of Ethnicity on Human Axillary Odorant Production. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 42(1), 33–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-015-0657-8
- Prokop, P., & Fancovicovaa, J. (2016). Mothers are less disgust sensitive than childless females. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *96*, 65–69. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.02.064
- Pryor, J. B., Reeder, G. D., Yeadon, C., & Hesson-McInnis, M. (2004). A dual-process model of reactions to perceived stigma. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(4), 436–452. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.87.4.436
- Regenbogen, C., Axelsson, J., Lasselin, J., Porada, D. K., Sundelin, T., Peter, M. G., Lekander, M., Lundström, J. N., & Olsson, M. J. (2017). Behavioral and neural correlates to multisensory detection of sick humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114(24), 6400–6405. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1617357114
- Reither, K., Jugheli, L., Glass, T. R., Sasamalo, M., Mhimbira, F. A., Weetjens, B. J., Cox, C., Edwards, T. L., Mulder, C., Beyene, N. W., & Mahoney, A. (2015).
  Evaluation of Giant African Pouched Rats for Detection of Pulmonary
  Tuberculosis in Patients from a High-Endemic Setting. *PloS One*, *10*(10),
  e0135877–e0135877. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135877
- Roberts, S. C., Gosling, L. M., Spector, T. D., Miller, P., Penn, D. J., & Petrie, M. (2005). Body odor similarity in non-cohabiting twins. *Chemical Senses*, *30*(8), 651–656. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bji058
- Robinson, A., Busula, A. O., Voets, M. A., Beshir, K. B., Caulfield, J. C., Powers, S. J., Verhulst, N. O., Winskill, P., Muwanguzi, J., Birkett, M. A., Smallegange, R. C., Masiga, D. K., Richard Mukabana, W., Sauerwein, R. W., Sutherland, C. J., Bousema, T., Pickett, J. A., Takken, W., Logan, J. G., & De Boer, J. G. (2018).
- Plasmodium-associated changes in human odor attract mosquitoes. Proceedings of the

- National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115(18), E4209–E4218. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1721610115 Roser, M., & Ritchie, H. (2015). *Cancer*. Our World in Data.
  - https://ourworldindata.org/cancer#cancer-prevalence-by-age
- Rozin, P., & Fallon, A. E. (1987). A Perspective on Disgust. *Psychological Review*, *94*(1), 23–41. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.94.1.23
- Rozin, P., Millman, L., & Nemeroff, C. (1986). Operation of the Laws of Sympathetic Magic in Disgust and Other Domains. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *50*(4), 703–712. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.50.4.703
- Ryan, S., Oaten, M., Stevenson, R. J., & Case, T. I. (2012). Facial disfigurement is treated like an infectious disease. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *33*(6), 639–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2012.04.001
- Saluja, S., & Stevenson, R. J. (2019). Perceptual and cognitive determinants of tactile disgust. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 72(11), 2705–2716. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747021819862500
- Sarolidou, G., Axelsson, J., Kimball, B. A., Sundelin, T., Regenbogen, C., Lundström,
  J. N., Lekander, M., & Olsson, M. J. (2020a). People expressing olfactory and visual cues of disease are less liked. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 375(1800). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0272
- Sarolidou, G., Tognetti, A., Lasselin, J., Regenbogen, C., Lundstrom, J. N., Kimball, B. A., Garke, M., Lekander, M., Axelsson, J., & Olsson, M. J. (2020b). Olfactory Communication of Sickness Cues in Respiratory Infection. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(June), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01004
- Sato, K., Leidal, R., & Sato, F. (1987). Morphology and development of an apoeccrine sweat gland in human axillae. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 252(1 (21/1)). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.1987.252.1.r166
- Sato, T., Katsuoka, Y., Yoneda, K., Nonomura, M., Uchimoto, S., Kobayakawa, R., Kobayakawa, K., & Mizutani, Y. (2017). Sniffer mice discriminate urine odours of patients with bladder cancer: A proof-of-principle study for non-invasive diagnosis of cancer-induced odours. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-15355-z

- Schaal, B., & Porter, R. H. (1991). "Microsmatic Humans" Revisited: The Generation and Perception of Chemical Signals. *Advances in the Study of Behavior*, 20(C), 135–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-3454(08)60321-6
- Schafer, L., Sorokowska, A., Weidner, K., & Croy, I. (2020). Children's Body Odors: Hints to the Development Status. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(March), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00320
- Schaller, M. (2011). The behavioural immune system and the psychology of human sociality. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 366(1583), 3418–3426. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0029
- Schaller, M., Miller, G. E., Gervais, W. M., Yager, S., & Chen, E. (2010). Mere visual perception of other people's disease symptoms facilitates a more aggressive immune response. *Psychological Science*, *21*(5), 649–652. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797610368064
- Schnall, S., Haidt, J., Clore, G. L., & Jordan, A. H. (2008). Disgust as embodied moral judgment. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *34*(8), 1096–1109. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208317771
- Schwambergova, D., Slamova, Z., Fialova, J., & Havlicek, J. (2020). Role behaviorálního imunitního systému v obraně proti infekcím. *Ceská a Slovenská Psychiatrie / Ceská Lékarská Spolecnost J.E. Purkyne*, 116, 234–242.
- Sheldon, B. C., & Verhulst, S. (1996). Ecological immunology: costly parasite defences and trade-offs in evolutionary ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 11(8), 317–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(96)10039-2
- Shelley, W. B., Hurley Jr., H. J., & Nichols, A. C. (1953). AXILLARY ODOR: Experimental Study of the Role of Bacteria, Apocrine Sweat, and Deodorants. *A.M.A. Archives of Dermatology and Syphilology*, *68*(4), 430–446. https://doi.org/10.1001/archderm.1953.01540100070012
- Shilpa, J., & Mohan, V. (2018). Ketogenic diets: Boon or bane? *The Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 148(3), 251–253. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijmr.IJMR\_1666\_18
- Shirasu, M., & Touhara, K. (2011). The scent of disease: Volatile organic compounds of the human body related to disease and disorder. *Journal of Biochemistry*, 150(3), 257–266. https://doi.org/10.1093/jb/mvr090
- Sinclair, E., Trivedi, D. K., Sarkar, D., Walton-Doyle, C., Milne, J., Kunath, T., Rijs, A.M., de Bie, R. M. A., Goodacre, R., Silverdale, M., & Barran, P. (2021).Metabolomics of sebum reveals lipid dysregulation in Parkinson's disease. In

- *Nature Communications* (Vol. 12, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-02121669-4
- Sinclair, E., Walton-Doyle, C., Sarkar, D., Hollywood, K. A., Milne, J., Lim, S. H.,
  Kunath, T., Rijs, A. M., de Bie, R. M. A., Silverdale, M., Trivedi, D. K., & Barran,
  P. (2021). Validating differential volatilome profiles in Parkinson's disease. In ACS Central Science (Vol. 7, Issue 2, pp. 300–306).
  https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.0c01028
- Singh, D., & Bronstad, P. M. (2001). Female body odour is a potential cue to ovulation. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 268(1469), 797–801. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2001.1589
- Smith, K., Thompson, G. F., & Koster, H. D. (1969). Sweat in schizophrenic patients: Identification of the odorous substance. *Science*, *166*(3903), 398–399. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.166.3903.398
- Sonnex, C. (1995). The amine test: a simple, rapid, inexpensive method for diagnosing bacterial vaginosis. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 102(2), 160–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.1995.tb09071.x
- Sonoda, H., Kohnoe, S., Yamazato, T., Satoh, Y., Morizono, G., Shikata, K., Morita, M., Watanabe, A., Morita, M., Kakeji, Y., Inoue, F., & Maehara, Y. (2011). Colorectal cancer screening with odour material by canine scent detection. *Gut*, 60(6), 814–819. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2010.218305
- Sorokowska, A., Sorokowski, P., Hummel, T., & Huanca, T. (2013). Olfaction and Environment: Tsimane' of Bolivian Rainforest Have Lower Threshold of Odor Detection Than Industrialized German People. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069203
- Sorokowska, A., Sorokowski, P., & Szmajke, A. (2012). Does Personality Smell?

  Accuracy of Personality Assessments Based on Body Odour. *European Journal of Personality*, 26(5), 496–503. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.848
- Stevenson, R. J. (2009). An initial evaluation of the functions of human olfaction. *Chemical Senses*, 35(1), 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjp083
- Stevenson, R. J., Hodgson, D., Oaten, M. J., Barouei, J., & Case, T. I. (2011). The effect of disgust on oral immune function. *Psychophysiology*, 48(7), 900–907. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2010.01165.x
- Stevinson, C., Pittler, M. H., & Ernst, E. (2000). Garlic for treating hypercholesterolemia: A meta-analysis of randomize clinical trials. *Annals of*

- *Internal Medicine*, 133(6). https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-133-6-20000919000009
- Suarez, F., Springfield, J., Furne, J., & Levitt, M. (1999). Differentiation of mouth versus gut as site of origin of odoriferous breath gases after garlic ingestion.

  \*American Journal of Physiology Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 276(2 39-2), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.1999.276.2.g425
- Sundelin, T., Karshikoff, B., Axelsson, E., Olgart Hoglund, C., Lekander, M., & Axelsson, J. (2015). Sick man walking: Perception of health status from body motion. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 48, 53–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.007
- Suzuki, N., Yoneda, M., Naito, T., Iwamoto, T., Yamada, K., Hisama, K., Okada, I., & Hirofuji, T. (2011). The relationship between alcohol consumption and oral malodour. *International Dental Journal*, *59*, 31–34. https://doi.org/10.1922/IDJ\_1984Suzuki04
- Syhre, M., & Chambers, S. T. (2008). The scent of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis*, 88(4), 317–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tube.2008.01.002
- Tamaki, K., Sonoki, S., Tamaki, T., & Ehara, K. (2008). Measurement of odour after in vitro or in vivo ingestion of raw or heated garlic, using electronic nose, gas chromatography and sensory analysis. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 43(1), 130–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2006.01403.x
- Tanaka, K., Budd, M. A., Efron, M. L., & Isselbacher, K. J. (1966). Isovaleric acidemia: a new genetic defect of leucine metabolism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 56(1), 236–242. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.56.1.236
- Taylor, D., Daulby, A., Grimshaw, S., James, G., Mercer, J., & Vaziri, S. (2003).

  Characterization of the microflora of the human axilla. *International Journal of Cosmetic Science*, 25(3), 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.14672494.2003.00181.x
- Thody, A. J., & Shuster, S. (1989). Control and function of sebaceous glands. *Physiological Reviews*, 69(2), 383–416. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1989.69.2.383
- Thriumani, R., Zakaria, A., Hashim, Y. Z. H. Y., Jeffree, A. I., Helmy, K. M.,

- Kamarudin, L. M., Omar, M. I., Shakaff, A. Y. M., Adom, A. H., & Persaud, K. C. (2018). A study on volatile organic compounds emitted by in-vitro lung cancer cultured cells using gas sensor array and SPME-GCMS. *BMC Cancer*, *18*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4235-7
- Trivedi, D. K., Sinclair, E., Xu, Y., Sarkar, D., Walton-Doyle, C., Liscio, C., Banks, P.,
  Milne, J., Silverdale, M., Kunath, T., Goodacre, R., & Barran, P. (2019).
  Discovery of Volatile Biomarkers of Parkinson's Disease from Sebum. ACS
  Central Science, 5(4), 599–606. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.8b00879
- Tucker, J. B. (2002). Scourge: The Once and Future Threat of Smallpox (Reprint). Grove Press.
- Tybur, J. M., Bryan, A. D., Magnan, R. E., & Hooper, A. E. C. (2011). Smells like safe sex: Olfactory pathogen primes increase intentions to use condoms. *Psychological Science*, 22(4), 478–480. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611400096
- Tybur, J. M., Lieberman, D., & Griskevicius, V. (2009). Microbes, Mating, and Morality: Individual Differences in Three Functional Domains of Disgust. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 97(1), 103–122. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015474
- Vaglio, S. (2009). Chemical communication and mother-infant recognition. *Communicative and Integrative Biology*, *2*(3), 279–281.
- https://doi.org/10.4161/cib.2.3.8227 van der Putte, S. C. (1991). Anogenital "sweat" glands. Histology and pathology of a gland that may mimic mammary glands. *The American Journal of* 
  - Dermatopathology, 13(6), 557–567. http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/1666822
- Wallace, P. (1977). Individual discrimination of humans by odor. *Physiology and Behavior*, *19*(4), 577–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(77)90238-4
- Waring, R. H., Mitchell, S. C., & Fenwick, G. R. (1987). The chemical nature of the urinary odour produced by man after asparagus ingestion. *Xenobiotica*, *17*(11), 1363–1371. https://doi.org/10.3109/00498258709047166
- WHO. (2021). Cancer. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer
- Willis, C. M., Church, S. M., Guest, C. M., Cook, W. A., McCarthy, N., Bransbury, A. J., Church, M. R. T., & Church, J. C. T. (2004). Olfactory detection of human bladder cancer by dogs: Proof of principle study. *British Medical Journal*, 329(7468), 712–714. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.329.7468.712

- Willis, C., & Poulin, R. (2000). Preference of female rats for the odours of nonparasitised males: The smell of good genes? *Folia Parasitologica*, 47(1), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.14411/fp.2000.002
- Winternitz, J., Abbate, J. L., Huchard, E., Havlicek, J., & Garamszegi, L. Z. (2017).
  Patterns of MHC-dependent mate selection in humans and nonhuman primates: a meta-analysis. *Molecular Ecology*, 26(2), 668–688.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13920
- Wolrath, H., Boren, H., Hallen, A., & Forsum, U. (2002). Trimethylamine content in vaginal secretion and its relation to bacterial vaginosis. *Apmis*, *110*(11), 819–824. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0463.2002.1101108.x
- Yamazaki, K., Boyse, E. A., Miké, V., Thaler, H. T., Mathieson, B. J., Abbott, J., Boyse, J., Zayas, Z. A., & Thomas, L. (1976). Control of mating preferences in mice by genes in the major histocompatibility complex. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 144, 1324–1335.
- Zeng, Q., Wu, A., & Pika, J. (2010). The effect of green tea extract on the removal of sulfur-containing oral malodour volatiles. *Journal of Breath Research*, *4*, 36005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1752-7155/4/3/036005
- Zeng, X., Leyden, J. J., Lawley, H. J., Sawano, K., Nohara, I., & Preti, G. (1991).

  Analysis of characteristic odors from human male axillae. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, *17*(7), 1469–1492. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00983777
- Zhang, J., Tran, Q., Lattard, V., & Cashman, J. R. (2003). Deleterious mutations in the flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 (FMO3) gene causing trimethylaminuria. *Pharmacogenetics*, 13(8), 495–500. https://doi.org/10.1097/00008571-20030800000007
- Zuniga, A., Stevenson, R. J., Mahmut, M. K., & Stephen, I. D. (2017). Diet quality and the attractiveness of male body odor. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *38*(1), 136–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2016.08.002